

NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL GENETICS

MODELLING HUMAN MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS IN CANCER THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES:

Response of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells towards *Thymus capitatus*, *Origanum dubium* Essential Oils and Their Key Components

PhD THESIS

Merdiye MAVIS

Nicosia December, 2023



NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL GENETICS

MODELLING HUMAN MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS IN CANCER THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES:

Response of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells towards *Thymus capitatus, Origanum dubium* Essential Oils and Their Key Components

PhD THESIS

Merdiye MAVIS

Prof. Dr. Nedime Serakıncı Prof. Dr. Pınar Tulay

> Nicosia December, 2023

Approval

We certify that we have read the thesis submitted by Merdiye Mavis titled "Modelling human mesenchymal stem cells in cancer therapeutic approaches" and that in our combined opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and in quality, as a thesis for the degree of PhD of Medical Genetics.

Signature Name-Surname **Examining Committee** Head of the Committee: Committee Member: Sco. Pco Committee Member: durg Vio Committee Member: Committee Member: YOA trizen Committee Member: ١ COC 170 LL Supervisor:

Approved by the Head of the Department

5

293 12 Name-Surname Title.

Head of Department

Approved by the Institute of Graduate Studies

Prof. Dr. Kemar Hij an Baser fitute Ir

Declaration

I hereby declare that all information, documents, analysis and results in this thesis have been collected and presented according to the academic rules and ethical guidelines of Institute of Graduate Studies, Near East University. I also declare that as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced information and data that are not original to this study.

Merdiye Mavis

01/12/2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisors Prof. Dr. Nedime Serakıncı and Prof. Dr. Pınar Tulay for their continuous support and guidance of my PhD study and research. The motivation and the enthusiasm they have shown me throughout my study made me to never give up and pursue my study.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Kemal Husnu Can Baser for his valuable support and insightful comments for the preparation of manuscript and publication of our paper. I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Dudu Ozkum Yavuz for her support and for putting her valuable insight to the study.

I thank my fellow colleagues in my department for their support and understanding.

Last but not least I would like to thank to my family for their emotional and financial support throughout my PhD study.

Merdiye Mavis

Abstract

Modelling Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cancer Therapeutic Approaches: Response of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells towards *Thymus capitatus*, *Origanum dubium* Essential Oils and Their Key Components

Mavis, Merdiye PhD, Department of Medical Genetics December, 2023, 73 pages Supervisors: Prof Dr. Nedime Serakıncı and Prof. Dr. Pınar Tulay

Origanum dubium Boiss. and *Thymus capitatus* (L.) Hoffm. & Link are native species in Mediterranean region that belongs to genus of Lamiaceae. In current study the cytotoxic actions of essential oils derived from these species and of their primary constituents, thymol for *Thymus capitatus* and carvacrol for *Origanum dubium*, on normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells were studied to assess their potential use in cancer therapies. Viability of hMSC-telo1 cells and their tumorigenic counterparts were evaluated by treating cells with varying *O. dubium* and *T. capitatus* essential oil, carvacrol and thymol concentrations and conducting MTT assay. TUNEL assay was conducted to identify apoptotic cells.

T. capitatus essential oil at 5×10^{-3} v/v % concentration and thymol at 5×10^{-3} v/v % and 5×10^{-2} v/v % concentrations preserved hMSC-telo1 cells from the cytotoxic action of chemotherapeutic agent; Deferasirox and the viability and the proliferation rate of the cells have also been conserved. Combining 5×10^{-3} v/v % of *T. capitatus*, 5×10^{-3} v/v % and 5×10^{-2} v/v % of thymol with Deferasirox had also been cytotoxic towards the tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells. These suggest that *T. capitatus* essential oil and thymol when combined together with conventional chemotherapeutic agents might enhance the action of the agent on tumor cells while preserving the normal and tumorigenic cells at all tested concetrations. To conclude *T. capitatus* essential oil and thymol can be regarded as promising candidates for cancer therapies.

Keywords: human mesenchymal stem cells, tumorigenic, essential oil, cancer therapeutics

Özet

Kanser Tedavi Yaklaşımlarında İnsan Mezenkimal Kök Hücrelerinin Modellenmesi: İnsan Mezenkimal Kök Hücrelerinin *Thymus capitatus*, *Origanum dubium* Esansiyel Yağları ve Ana Bileşenlerine Karşı Tepkisi

Mavis, Merdiye PhD, Tıbbi Genetik Anabilim Dalı Aralık, 2023, 73 sayfa Danışman: Prof Dr. Nedime Serakıncı ve Prof. Dr. Pınar Tulay

Origanum dubium Boiss. ve Thymus capitatus (L.) Hoffm. & Link Lamiaceae cinsine ait Akdeniz bölgesinin yerli türleridir. Bu çalışmada bu türlerden elde edilen esansiyel yağların ve Thymus capitatus'un ana bileşeni olan timol ve Origanum dubium'un ana bileşeni olan karvakrol'un normal ve tümörijenik hMSC-telo1 hücreleri üzerindeki sitotoksik aktivitelerini inceleyerek, kanser tedavilerinde potansiyel kullanımlarını değerlendirmek amaçlanmıştır. Normal ve tümörijenik hMSC-telo1 hücrelerinin canlılığı, hücrelere değişen konsantrasyonlarda Thymus capitatus ve Origanum dubium esansiyel yağı, timol ve karvakrol uygulanması ile ve MTT testi yapılarak değerlendirildi. Apoptoz nedeniyle hücrelerde DNA parçalanmasını tanımlamak için TUNEL testi kullanıldı.

T. capitatus esansiyel yağı 5×10^{-3} v/v % konsantrasyonunda ve timol 5×10^{-3} v/v % ve 5×10^{-2} v/v % konsantrasyonlarında normal hMSC-telo1 hücrelerini kemoterapötik ajan olan Deferasirox'un sitotoksisitesinden korudu ve hücrelerin canlılık ve proliferasyon oranı da korunmuştur. 5×10^{-3} v/v % *T. capitatus* ve 5×10^{-3} v/v % ve 5×10^{-2} v/v % timol'ün Deferasirox ile birlikte uygulanmasının ise tümörijenik hMSC-telo1 hücrelerine karşı sitotoksik etkisi olduğu görülmüştür. Bunlar *T. capitatus* esansiyel yağının ve timolun standard kemoterapötik ajanlarla birlikte uygulandığında, ajanın tümör hücreleri üzerindeki etkisini artırabilirdiğini ve normal hücreleri koruduğunu önerebilir. *O. dubium* esansiyel yağı ve karvakrol test edilen tüm konsantrasyonlarda hem normal hem de tümörijenik hücrelere karşı yüksek seviyede

sitotoksisite gösterdi. Sonuç olarak *T. capitatus* esansiyel yağı ve timol, kanser tedavileri için umut verici adaylar olarak kabul edilebilir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: insan mezenkimal kök hücreleri, tümörijenik, esansiyel yağ, kanser tedavileri

Declaration
Acknowledgements4
Abstract
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
CHAPTER I
Introduction15
1. Statement of the Problem15
2. Purpose of the Study15
3. Research Questions / Hypotheses16
4. Significance of the Study16
CHAPTER II
Literature Review
1. Cancer and Tumorigenesis
2. Treatment Approaches for Cancer
3. Natural Products in Cancer Treatment20
3.1 Essential Oils20
3.2 Method of Functioning of Essential Oils
3.3 Anticancer Activities of Essential Oils22
3.3.1 Antioxidant Activity22
3.3.2 Anti-mutagenic Activity23
3.3.3 Anti-proliferative Activity23
3.4 Thymus capitatus (L.) Hoffm. & Link23

Table of Contents

3.5 Origanum dubium Boiss	25
3.6 Thymol	27
3.7 Carvacrol	28
3.8 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells	29
CHAPTER III	30
Methodology	30
1. Research Design	30
2. Isolation of the EOs and Content Analysis of EOs through Gas	
Chromatography/ Mass Spectrometry Analysis	31
3. Cell Culture	31
3.1 Thawing Cells	32
3.2 Passaging Adherent Cells	32
3.3 Freezing cells	32
4. MTT assay	32
	33
5. TUNEL assay	33
6. Statistical analysis	34
CHAPTER IV	35
Findings	35
1. Assessment of hMSC-telo1 Cells and Their Tumorigenic Counterpa	urts'
Viability after Applying TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV	35
2. Assessment of Apoptosis of the hMSC-telo1 Cells and Their	
Tumorigenic Counterparts' after Applying OD EO and CV	37
3. Assessment of hMSC-telo1 Cells' and Their Tumorigenic Counterp	arts'
Viability after Applying TC EO, TOH, TC EO/TOH and DFX Combinations	40
CHAPTER V	41

Discussion	42
CHAPTER VI	52
Conclusion	52
Recommendations and Future Perspectives	52
References	54

List of Tables

Table 1. Composition of TC EO

Table 2. Composition of OD EO

List of Figures

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	41

List of Abbreviations

EOs:	Essential Oils
OD:	Origanum dubium
TC:	Thymus capitatus
CV:	Carvacrol
TOH:	Thymol
hMSC:	Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell
DFX:	Deferasirox
WHO:	World Health Organization
UV	Ultraviolet
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HPV	Human papilloma virus
ROS:	Reactive Oxygen Species
RNS:	Reactive Nitrogen Species
NF-κB:	Nuclear factor kappa B
Akt:	Protein kinase B
mTOR:	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MAPKs:	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
Bcl-2:	B-cell lymphoma 2
PARP:	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
RRI:	Relative retention indices
Tr:	Trace
ILs:	Interleukins
TNF-α:	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
BAX:	Bcl-2-associated X protein
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
hTERT:	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
GC/MS:	Gas Chromatography/ Mass Spectrometry
DMEM:	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
FBS:	Fetal bovine serum

DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
PBS:	Phosphate Buffer Saline
EDTA:	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
MTT:	$\label{eq:2-2-yl} 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium$
	Bromide
TUNEL:	TdT-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling
MSC:	Mesenchymal stem cell
ERK5:	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5
PBMC:	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
MMP:	Matrix metalloproteinases
EMT:	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
MDA:	Malondialdehyde
8-OHdG:	Hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
DMBA:	7,12-Dimethylbenz-[α]-anthracene

CHAPTER I

Introduction

1. Statement of the Problem

Cancer is globally causing significant amounts of death and while it is complex, its treatment is also a complex aspect (Debela et al., 2021). For cancer there are conventional/standard treatment strategies as well as advanced treatment options such as targeted therapies, stem cell based therapies, gene therapy or therapies using nanoparticles (Debela et al., 2021). Conventional treatment options can be given as surgery, chemotherapy or radiotherapy. Although these treatment approaches are being used widely in clinics for a long time, they have major limitation that as well as targeting tumorigenic cells, they also target and damage normal and healthy cells. In the case of chemotherapy, rapidly dividing and growing cells are being negatively affected, leading to adverse effects. Therefore in the field of cancer therapies there is a seek for new therapy approaches and improvement in the utilisation of existing ones as well as need for novel chemical entities that can have promising potential to be used in cancer treatment (Gautam et al., 2014).

2. Purpose of the Study

To identify potential chemical entities that can be used to improve existing cancer therapies, one of the perspectives is to focus on alternative traditional approaches (Gautam et al., 2014). Several *in vitro* and *in vivo* investigations suggested that metabolites originated from plants have anticancer actions (Gautam et al., 2014). One of the plant derived product that showed anticancer activity is essential oils (EOs) from aromatic plants and they or their constituents can be investigated to identify novel anticancer agents (Gautam et al., 2014).

It has also foreseen that the products derived from plants may possess fewer adverse effects compared to synthetic drugs and EOs might be used together with standard cancer treatments to diminish their adverse effects (Gautam et al., 2014).

Therefore in current study we meant to determine whether *Origanum dubium* Boiss. (OD) and *Thymus capitatus* (L.) Hoffm. & Link (TC) EOs and their key constituents; carvacrol (CV) and thymol (TOH) can be used as complementary agents for classic cancer therapy approaches and to investigate the response of telomeraseimmortalized human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSC-telo1) and their irradiated counterparts towards an anti-cancer agent, Deferasirox (DFX) in combination with TC or TOH.

3. Research Questions / Hypotheses

- Do TC, OD EOs and their major constituent's, TOH and CV have anticancer potential? Will these agents lead to the death of irradiated hMSC-telo1 cells with tumour forming potential while preserving the viability of the normal cells?
- 2) When TC and TOH used in combination with an anticancer agent, they will spare its adverse effects on normal cells and affect the viability of tumorigenic cells negatively. Thus TC, OD EOs and their main constituent's TOH and CV will be proposed to be used as complementary agents for standard chemotherapeutic agents.
- 3) What will be the reaction of hMSC-telo1 and their tumorigenic counterparts following being exposed to TC, OD EOs, TOH and CV in regards to viability?

4. Significance of the Study

This study has several significances;

- This study is providing a unique perspective for our understanding on possible use of EOs; TC and OD EOs and their main constituents; TOH and CV in cancer therapy.
- 2) In this study TC, OD EOs and their main constituents; TOH and CV have examined for their cytotoxicity towards well characterized cell line hMSCtelo1 cells as well as their tumorigenic counterpart. These agents have been tested on hMSC-telo1 cells for the first time. There are studies testing other EOs on mesenchymal stem cells or on other cancer cell lines, however this

study is foremost investigation in which TOH and CV have tested on hMSC-telo1 cells.

- 3) Using EOs as complementary agents for classic cancer therapeutic approaches has been the major novelty of the study. TC and TOH has been tested in combination with an anti-cancer agent to investigate if they can eliminate the side effects of chemotherapeutics; sparing normal cells from those effects and preserving their viability, while targeting tumorigenic cells.
- 4) Varying concentrations of TC, OD EOs, TOH and CV have used to investigate if any can preserve the viability of healthy cells and their capability to be expanded *in vitro* against classic therapeutic agents.
- Assessment of apoptotic death of hMSC-telo1cells with the exposure of OD EO and CV.

CHAPTER II

Literature Review

1. Cancer and Tumorigenesis

Cancer is a complex disease with unrestrained proliferation of the cells due to accumulation of genetic and epigenetic mutations that cells acquire. There are several factors contributing to the accumulation of these mutations such as aging, environmental factors, lifestyle, physical and chemical factors (Sharma et al., 2022).

Cancer is one of the primary reasons of mortality, leading one in six deaths worldwide (Debela et al., 2021). It is given that in 2020 new cases of cancer worldwide was 19.3 million and there were around 10 million deaths caused by cancer (Debela et al., 2021). As it is given in report of the WHO (World Health Organization), approximately 20% people globally have few malignant neoplasm and it is expected to rise exponentially by 2040 (World Health Organization, 2020).

Cancer development can be explained by three stages; initiation, promotion and progression. At initiation stage DNA repair mechanisms fail to correct the DNA damage caused by carcinogens, at promotion stage transformed cells are triggered to proliferate and at the stage of progression pre-neoplastic cells transform into neoplastic cells (Sharma et al., 2022). Preventing these stages or related signal transduction pathways might have a destructive impact on the carcinogenesis (Fresco et al., 2006).

The genomic instability originated due to DNA damage is the major source of the cancer development (Sharma et al., 2022). There are several chemical and physical carcinogens like UV and ionizing radiation, tobacco. In addition to these HBV and HPV infections, oxygen free radicals or reactive oxygen species (ROS) can also be considered as causes of cancer (Bhalla et al., 2013).

2. Treatment Approaches for Cancer

For several decades cancer treatment approaches were offered as surgery, radiation therapy and chemotherapy and they were classified as conventional (traditional) approaches. However in recent years there have been several advances such as adopting novel strategies such as immune mediated therapies, stem cell based therapies or biological molecules (Debela et al., 2021). In addition to that there have been combinatorial approaches such as using various targeted therapies together or with traditional chemotherapeutics.

Although conventional treatment options are widely used in clinics and have positive effect on survival rate, they can have some side effects or limitations and can have negative impact on quality of life (F. Khan et al., 2023). Surgery followed by radiotherapy, chemotherapy or immunotherapy is one of the traditional approaches which provide better outcomes at early stages of the disease and enhances the chances of remission (Arruebo et al., 2011). Radiotherapy might have negative effects on healthy cells, organs and tissues. Chemotherapy is suggested to be the best treatment strategy in the case of its effectiveness and has been standard therapy that is extensively used (Debela et al., 2021). However all chemotherapeutic agents target and negatively affect healthy normal cells as well as tumorigenic ones (Moses et al., 2003). They mostly damage rapidly dividing and growing cells. There is also other factors lowering the efficacy of chemotherapeutic drugs such as drug resistance, alterations on chromosomes, changes in signal transduction pathways that initiates the actions of drugs, reduced drug buildup, suppression of apoptosis, reversed DNA damage that is triggered by drugs due to DNA repair, alterations in DNA due to epigenetic mechanisms (Housman et al., 2014).

Overall, there is seek for alternative, promising advancements in the cancer treatment which are safe and effective, especially by using conventional chemotherapy agents together with other agents as complementary therapy to lessen the side effects of chemotherapy on healthy cells and promoting cancer cell specific cytotoxicity.

Traditional medicine can form an alternative for identifying novel molecules that can be used in cancer therapies (Gautam et al., 2014). Currently there are several agents that have natural origin and are being applied in cancer treatments and also majority of the approved medications for treating cancer are naturally derived (Bhalla et al., 2013). However, in cancer biology, there is seek for further studies on medicinal plants and on figuring out the actions of phytocompounds that may be adopted as more potent anticancer agent with a lesser amount of side effects (M. I. Khan et al., 2022).

3. Natural Products in Cancer Treatment

Traditional medicinal herbs have adopted widely in East Asia in pharmaceutical perspective for various diseases (Bhalla et al., 2013). More than 5000 phytochemicals with considerable structural differences are being present in fruits, vegetables, grains and other plants and within these, EOs have been extensively focused due to their considerable range of bioactivities (Bhalla et al., 2013).

For alternative cancer therapy strategies, alkaloids, saponins, triterpenes, glycosides, and polyphenols have revealed cancer preventative activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Gautam et al., 2014). Significant number of plants have extensive anticancer properties and secondary metabolites derived from these plants such as vincristine, colchicine, paclitaxel, etc. are widely being used in cancer treatment by targeting signaling pathways in cancer (Cragg & Newman, 2005)(F. Khan et al., 2023).

For the search of novel and natural agents, EOs can be regarded as key agents in cancer therapies due to their pharmacological activities (Sharma et al., 2022).

3.1 Essential Oils

In the history of health care natural plant originated products have important role and their use in combination with synthetic drugs had critical role in several clinical conditions (Blowman et al., 2018)(Atanasov et al., 2021). Thus the extraction of secondary products such as EOs from aromatic plants by using steam or hydrodistillation has improved over the years (Sharma et al., 2022). EOs have multiple biological and medicinal activities and in addition to these they have been used in several areas such as cosmetics, food industry due to their aromatic characteristics (Sharmeen et al., 2021) (Thomas et al., 2016).

EOs are categorized as terpenes and terpenoids, phenolics, and aliphatic compounds (Sharma et al., 2022). EOs consist of monoterpenes that are hydrophobic and they have several biological activities (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011). Containing diverse chemical constituents and this variation make them to have numerous biological properties (Gautam et al., 2014) (Figueiredo, 2017). EOs have stronger effect compared to their constituents as they have synergistic and more selective impact (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011).

Analyzing the primary components of EO, determining their safety and therapeutic efficacy for diseases have key importance for the drug development. EOs are lipophilic and they have the capability to pass through the plasma membrane and act on the intracellular and/or intraorganelle sites (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011).

These oils are promising therapeutic agents for clinical conditions such as hypertension and atherosclerosis (Ji et al., 2009)(Raut & Karuppayil, 2014) and can have anti-inflammatory properties (Shayganni et al., 2016) (De Andrade et al., 2017). Moreover, they have antimutagenic, antiproliferative, antioxidant and detoxifying activities which make them promising candidates for cancer research (Blowman et al., 2018). Both EOs and their constituents have showed anticancer activities (Bhalla et al., 2013) (Gautam et al., 2014).

Conventional chemotherapy agents target dividing cells so they are cytotoxic towards cancer cells and also towards healthy cells. This affects the recovery of the patient and can also be life-threatening. Thus cancer cell specific treatment options or an expansion in the therapeutic window across healthy and cancer cells are required (Blowman et al., 2018). Recent strategies have considerable progress but still there are problems with specificity. Monoclonal antibodies are selective but they do not offer enough cytotoxicity (Blowman et al., 2018). EOs' extracts have tested in several in vitro studies and they specifically targeted cancer cells while not affecting healthy cells or being less cytotoxic toward healthy cells (Blowman et al., 2018). In order to maintain target specific delivery of the EOs, they can be adopted into nanoemulsions, niosomes, liposomes, etc. and this will enhance the possible use of EOs in anticancer treatment approaches (Sharma et al., 2022). As EOs are insoluble in water and as they are volatile and instable so their pharmacological use is restricted (Trinetta et al., 2017). Their efficacy can be influenced by a number of aspects such as oxidation, degradation by digestion, alterations caused by enzymes, inefficient absorption and removal by excretion (Sharma et al., 2022). To lessen the effect of these factors and to manage effective transport of EOs to the target cells microcapsules/nanocapsules, different formulations of lipid carriers, etc. can be used (Sharma et al., 2022). Enclosing EOs in nanoparticles can reduce the volatility, toxic action and can provide more stable formulation and augment their biological properties (Sharma et al., 2022).

3.2 Method of Functioning of Essential Oils

Standard cancer treatment strategies aims to trigger apoptosis or cell cycle arrest. Thus, natural products with these capabilities can serve as important agents in cancer prevention. There are several mechanisms that play part in the antiproliferative action of the EOs and EOs are also effective *in vitro* studies by reducing tumor size (Gautam et al., 2014). Anticancer strategies provided by EOs are triggering cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, and DNA repair mechanisms. EOs lead to decrease in the tumor cell proliferation, avoidance of metastasis, and resistance towards several drugs (Gautam et al., 2014).

EOs and their constituents can have an influence on several molecular cascades that have roles in cancerous cells. EOs can cross the cell membrane and target multiple proteins in numerous cancer related pathways. They elevate ROS and Reactive Nitrogen Species (RNS) levels and causes changes in the Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) and these lead to apoptosis (Gautam et al., 2014). Protein kinase B (Akt), mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) pathways are inhibited by EOs and this increases or decreases level of important biomolecules (Gautam et al., 2014). Akt is dephosphorylated by EOs and this increase the levels of p21 which triggers apoptosis (Gautam et al., 2014). EOs also trigger mitochondrial stress and this activates B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) and membrane depolarization that leads into apoptosis (Gautam et al., 2014). They also inhibit DNA polymerase which affect the DNA repair mechanisms and causes Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) cleavage that also induces apoptosis (Gautam et al., 2014).

3.3 Anticancer Activities of Essential Oils

3.3.1 Antioxidant Activity

Oxidation harms several biological elements and can cause diseases like cancer, aging, Alzheimer's disease, inflammation, diabetes (Bhalla et al., 2013) and antioxidants are compounds that have the ability to obstruct the free radical oxidation and oxidative damage (Amorati et al., 2013). There has been several research studying the antioxidant activity of numerous EOs to discover natural antioxidants and it was revealed that EOs are excellent suppliers of antioxidants (Stadler et al., 1995). Antioxidant activity of EOs

make them to manage oxidative stress (Amorati et al., 2013). When eukaryotes are susceptible to oxidation, the mitochondrial DNA damage caused by ROS restrains the electron transport chain, being responsible for accumulation of ROS. In the presence of EO, ROS comes together with EO and reactive phenoxy radicals are being arisen. Reactive phenoxy radicals come together with ROS to halt extra oxidative damage (Stadler et al., 1995). EOs also upregulate the antioxidant enzymes and non – antioxidants (Manjamalai & Grace, 2013). In one of the studies it has been shown that thyme EO has the greatest antioxidant activity (Wei & Shibamoto, 2010). EOs such as clover leaf, basil, eucalyptus, chamomile, etc. have antioxidant activity (Bhalla et al., 2013). It was also reported that *Thymus spathulifolius* has antioxidant properties due to its high thymol (36.5%) and carvacrol (29.8%) content (Bhalla et al., 2013). Another EO that has antioxidant activity with high thymol (20.5%) and carvacrol (58.1%) content is Egyptian corn silk (Bhalla et al., 2013).

3.3.2 Anti-mutagenic Activity

EOs have anti-mutagenic activity and have a key role in preventing cancer. Their anti-mutagenic activity is based on various mechanisms that are inhibiting infiltration of the mutagens through the cell membrane, deactivating the mutagens through direct scavenging, picking up the free radicals created by mutagens, preventing the change of promutagens to mutagens by cytochrome P450 enzyme, detoxification of mutagens, and efficient accurate DNA repair (Bhalla et al., 2013).

3.3.3 Anti-proliferative Activity

EOs have preventative action on proliferation which has been exerted with several mechanisms that are disruption of cell membrane or triggering apoptosis (Russo et al., 2015). There have been several studies showing that EOs are inhibiting the proliferation and growth of numerous cancer cell lines (Seal et al., 2012).

3.4 Thymus capitatus (L.) Hoffm. & Link

Thymus capitatus belongs to the genus *Thymus* (Lamiaceae) and genus *Thymus* characterized by around 350 species around the world. *T. capitatus* is commonly found

in Mediterranean region (D. Ö. Yavuz et al., 2021). In Cyprus there are two species that are growing wild and these are *T. integer* and *T. capitatus* (Hanoglu et al., 2017).

Essential oils isolated from genus *Thymus* mainly contains thymol, carvacrol, γ terpinene and p- cymene and these compounds provide pharmacological properties of essential oils. If the major constituent is forming > 50% of the total composition, this is named as "pure chemotype". If there are two or more constituents that are less than 50% of the total composition, this is "mixed chemotype". For genus *Thymus*, there are thymol or carvarol chemotype or thymol/carvacrol chemotype.

Volatile oils have great variety of pharmacological activities and chemical changes of volatile compounds provide us information about pharmacological activities of EOs (Hanoglu et al., 2017). These chemical changes are arising due several factors such as ecology, climate, geography, genetic factors (Koutsaviti et al., 2013). The constituents of EOs derived from TC are given in Table 1 and 62.3% of the EO is thymol. Constituents provide EOs with several pharmacological activities (Hanoglu et al., 2017). Hanoglu et al. reported that TC growing wild is thymol chemotype and this is uncommon. Especially the TC collected from Yedidalga is a possible source of thymol (Hanoglu et al., 2017).

EOs and compounds derived from them have widely used for medicinal, agricultural, industrial applications etc. (Hammer et al., 1999)(Rota et al., 2008)(Bakkali et al., 2008). TC has significant importance in cosmetic and fragrance industries. It is also applied in traditional treatment approaches against gastro-intestinal disorders

Table 1.

Composition of TC EO (Hanoglu et al., 2017)

RRI	Compound	Relative %
1032	α-Pinene	1.0
1035	α-Thujene	0.6
1076	Camphene	0.4
1174	Myrcene	2.2
1176	α-Phellandrene	0.2
1188	α-Terpinene	1.6
1203	Limonene	1.2
1218	β-Phellandrene	0.1
1255	y-Terpinene	5.1
1280	p-Cymene	10.9
1290	Terpinolene	0.5
1553	Linalool	0.6
1604	Thymol methyl ether (=Methyl thymol)	0.4
1611	Terpinen-4-ol	1.2
1612	β-Caryophyllene	1.0
1694	Neral	tr
1706	α-Terpineol	tr
1719	Borneol	1.6
1740	Geranial	0.5
2198	Thymol	62.3
2226	Methyl hexadecanoate (=methyl palmitate)	0.7
2239	Carvaerol	6.7
2456	(Z)-9-Methyl octadecanoate (= <i>Methyl oleate</i>)	1.0
	Total	00.8

3.5 Origanum dubium Boiss.

Origanum species are commonly originate in the Mediterranean, North Africa, and Siberia (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2021). Plants that are classified under genus are highly abundant in EOs and the primary components are terpenoids, that generally consist of carvacrol, thymol, carbamene, and terpilenol (L. Zhou et al., 2021). There are 42 species in *Origanum* genus and they are utilized in the treatment of bronchitis, diabetes,

cholesterol, hypertension, etc. (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2021). When *Origanum* species werestudied in regards to determine their phytochemical and biological properties, it was shown that they can supply compounds with insecticidal, antibacterial, antifungal, antioxidant, and anti-carcinogenic properties (Karadağlıoğlu et al., 2019) (Burt, 2004). Moreover, EOs and compounds obtained from *Origanum* species have anticancer, antiproliferative and apoptotic activities towards cancer cell lines like leukemic cell, platelets and breast adenocarcinomas (Al-Kalaldeh et al., 2010) (I. Khan et al., 2018).

O. dubium (Lamiaceae) grows wild in the Mediterranean region. Previous studies determined the composition of OD as given in Table 2 and carvacrol forms the 88.3% of the EO (Karadağlıoğlu et al., 2019). The research stated that the antimicrobial and antioxidant action of OD is linked to its abundant carvacrol content (A. Karioti et al., 2006).

Table 2.

RRI	Compound Name	Relative %
1020	α-Pinene	0.3
1024	α-Thujene	0.5
1172	Myrcene	0.4
1177	α-Phellandrene	0.2
1192	α-Terpinene	0.9
1211	Limonene	0.1
1223	β-Phellandrene	0.1
1260	γ-Terpinene	2.7
1288	p-Cymene	3.8
1299	Terpinolene	0.1
1478	trans- sabinene hydrate	0.4
1556	Linalool	0.1
1565	cis-sabinene hydrate	0.1
1625	Terpinene-4-ol	0.7
1629	β-Caryophyllene	0.1
1639	trans-dihydrocarvone	tr
1718	α-Terpineol	0.5
1728	Borneol	0.1
1771	Carvone	tr
2108	Elemol	0.1
2159	Spathunelol	0.1
2210	Thymol	0.2
2243	Carvacrol	88.3
2273	β-Eudesmol	0.1
	Total	100.0

Composition of OD EO (Karadağlıoğlu et al., 2019)

3.6 Thymol

Thymol is a natural monoterpene phenol derivative of *p*-cymene and an isomer of carvacrol (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011). It is the key constituent of EOs acquired from various species that belongs to Lamiaceae and Verbenaceae families (Sampaio et al., 2021). It is also a main constituent of the TC EO from Northern Cyprus (Hanoglu et al., 2017). Thymol is hydrophobic and so can have a reaction with the lipids forming the cell membrane and mitochondria, this makes cell membrane and mitochondria permeable and content of the cell escape outside (Gündogan & Nath, 2021).

TOH and EOs with high proportion of thymol have promising benefits in various areas such as medicine, agriculture and pest control (Hanoglu et al., 2017). The

anticancer measure of thymol has detected *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies, whereas the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory/immunomodulatory, anti-genotoxicity and antimicrobial features have also revealed (Islam et al., 2019) (Vassiliou et al., 2023).

By several experimental model investigations, TOH has shown to have anticancer actions by numerous means such as triggering depolarizing mitochondrial membrane potential, and stimulating the pro-apoptotic caspase proteins (Figure 7) (Chapa et al., 2018)(Deb et al., 2011)(Llana-Ruiz-Cabello et al., 2014).

3.7 Carvacrol

Carvacrol is a monoterpenoid phenol that is the key element of EOs derived from members of Lamiaceae and Verbenaceae families like OD (Sampaio et al., 2021). It is also one of the main constituents of *Origanum vulgare*, *Lippia gracilis*, and *Thymus vulgaris* EOs (Camilo et al., 2022)(Lombrea et al., 2020) (Galovičová et al., 2021)(Khazraei et al., 2022)(Sampaio et al., 2021). Similar to TOH, CV is also hydrophobic and can have a reaction with the lipids of the cell membrane and mitochondria.

Studies have showed that CV has several biological effects like antimicrobial, insecticidal, anti-angiogenic (Abdel-Massih et al., 2010), antiviral (Wani et al., 2021), antibacterial (de Almeida de Souza et al., 2021), antifungal (Rashed et al., 2021), antioxidant (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011) (A. A. A. Khalaf et al., 2021) and anticarcinogenic (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011) (Arunasree, 2010) activities. CV has also been used in food industry as it has antimicrobial and flavoring properties (F. Khan et al., 2023).

Studies showed that CV has a potential to halt carcinogenesis by regulating numerous cell signalling pathways disrupted in cancer cells and which are linked with apoptosis, autophagy, inflammation and angiogenesis (F. Khan et al., 2023). It has affected intracellular signalling molecules such as interleukins (ILs), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), Bcl-2-associated X protein (BAX), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), Beclin, caspases, and Bcl-2 (A. A. A. Khalaf et al., 2021).

3.8 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) can generate range of differentiated tissue and several tissues that originated from hMSCs can transform into cancerous tissues. Thus, hMSCs have been selected to study the anticancer potential of EOs, TOH and CV. Telomerase-immortalized hMSCs (hMSC-telo1) with expanded life span are previously established by transducing hMSCs with human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) domain of telomerase. hMSC-telo1 cells have elevated telomerase actions and their telomeres are longer in contrast to o hMSC, this gives them extensively prolonged lifespan (Christensen et al., 2008).

Tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells were previously established by irradiating hMSC-telo1 cells with 2.5 Gy of γ -rays to get malignant transformation. Irradiated hMSC-telo1 cells were able to form tumors prior to engraftment of cells to severe combined immunodeficiency mice (Christensen et al., 2008).

Figure 1

Phase contrast microscopy images of (A) hMSC-telo1 cells and (B) irradiated hMSC-telo1 cells with tumor forming ability at $\times 100$ magnification.



CHAPTER III

Methodology

1. Research Design

- a) Both hMSC-telo1 cells and their tumorigenic counterparts were plated into flat-bottomed 96- well plates and were treated with 1×10⁻³ v/v %, 2.5×10⁻³ v/v %, 5×10⁻³ v/v %, 2.5×10⁻² v/v %, and 5×10⁻² v/v % TC and OD EOs, TOH and CV for 24 h. Then then to evaluate the viable cell proportion MTT assay was done.
- b) For 1×10⁻³ v/v %, 2.5×10⁻³ v/v %, 5×10⁻³ v/v %, 2.5×10⁻² v/v %, and 5×10⁻² v/v % OD EO and CV TUNEL assay was preformed to assess the apoptotic cell death.
- c) 5×10^{-2} v/v % and 5×10^{-3} v/v % TC EO and TOH were used in combination treatment with DFX and then to evaluate the viable cell proportion MTT assay was done.

Figure 2

Research design. TC EO, OD EO, CV and TOH were applied on both normal hMSCtelo1 and their tumorigenic counterpart at various concentrations and cells were incubated for 24h. Then cell viability and apoptosis were assessed.



Biological activity - Anticancer activity

2. Isolation of the EOs and Content Analysis of EOs through Gas Chromatography/ Mass Spectrometry Analysis

Essential oils used in the study were TC and OD EO and they were generously made available by Prof. Dr. Dudu Özkum Yavuz in agreement with Prof. Dr. Hüsnü Can Başer.

Aerial parts of TC and OD that are growing naturally in Northern Cyprus were gathered in the course of the post- flowering stages. TC was obtained from Yedidalga-35°8'36.03"N 32°48' 11.37"E and OD was obtained from Yesilırmak- 35°10'1"N 32°44' 01.2"E. EO isolated from TC and OD according to the former studies by Hanoglu et al. and Karadağlıoğlu et al. and for the content analysis of EOs gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry (GC/MS) analysis were carried out regarding to the same studies (Hanoglu et al., 2017)(Karadağlıoğlu et al., 2019). EOs used in this investigation have been acquired and their properties have determined in prior investigations (Hanoglu et al., 2017)(Karadağlıoğlu et al., 2019). Thus, the isolation and characterization methodologies of TC and OD EOs will not be debated in this study.

The voucher samples were located in Herbarium of the Near East University.

3. Cell Culture

Cell lines used in the study were hMSC-telo1 and irradiated hMSC-telo1 cells that have tumour forming capability. hMSC-telo1 cells used in the study were previously established by Serakinci et al. (Serakinci et al., 2007). Both cell lines were at passage 43 at the beginning of the study.

In order to establish hMSC-telo1 cells primary hMSCs were obtained from the bone marrow and were transduced with *hTERT* gene by using retroviruses as transduction vectors (Serakinci et al., 2007). Thus they were immortalized by the *hTERT* gene transduction. Tumorigenic counterpart of hMSC-telo1 cells were generated by exposing hMSC-telo1 cells to 2.5 Gy irradiation (Christensen et al., 2008). Both hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells were kept in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Sigma-Aldrich) enhanced with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin (64 μ g/ml), streptomycin (0.1 mg/ml) and L-glutamine. Cells were kept in the incubator that maintain 5% CO² concentration and 37°C temperature.

3.1 Thawing Cells

Ampoule of cells were kept in cryotubes within %5 Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in -140 °C. For thawing them they were put into water bath at 37 °C. Cells were then moved into centrifuge tubes containing 10 ml of pre-warmed DMEM enhanced with supplements as given in section 3. Centrifugation has conducted for the tubes at 1400 rpm for 3 min at 4°C. Following that, the supernatant was removed and the thawed cells were homogenised by resuspension and plated in T-25 flasks with growth medium. Cells were kept at 5% CO^2 and 37°C.

3.2 Passaging Adherent Cells

When cells were 80% confluent, cells were passage into new cell culture flasks. The spent media was thrown away and cells were washed with ice-cold Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) (DPBS, Invitrogen). Then PBS was thrown away and cells were exposed to 5 ml of trypsin/0.5 mM Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (0.25% Trypsin, Invitrogen) for 2 min. When cells were started to dissociate, 10 ml of DMEM with FBS was put into the flask to halt the trypsinisation. Cell suspension was poured into 15 ml tubes and centrifugation at $1100 \times g$ for 4 min had performed. Following this, supernatant was removed. Cell pellets were resuspended in DMEM enhanced with supplements as given in section 3. Required volume of cell suspension is added into new culture flasks together with DMEM enhanced with supplements as given in section 3. Cells were kept at 5% CO² and 37°C.

3.3 Freezing cells

Cell pellets were collected as described in 3.2. Cell pellets were resuspended in freezing medium and 1 ml of cells suspensions are transferred into cryogenic storage vials. Cells were kept at -80°C overnight and following this they were transferred to and stored in -140°C.

4. MTT assay

MTT assay was conducted with Cell proliferation Kit I (MTT) (Roche, Germany) to measure the proportion of viable and proliferating normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1

cells. MTT assay has the basis that produce a colorimetric result in which viable cells break down the tetrazolium salt (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide or MTT) into purple formazan crystals which then are dissolved by solubilisation solution. The absorbance is read from the obtained coloured solution by using spectrophotometer.

In this study hMSC-telo1 cells and their tumorigenic counterpart were plated into a flat-bottomed 96- well plate as 5×10^4 cells/ml per well and kept in 5% CO² and at 37°C for 24 h.

Removal of growth medium had performed and TC and OD EO, CV and TOH at doses given above in Research design section were applied on cells. Following 24 h of incubation, EOs, TOH and CV have removed from the wells and 10 μ l of MTT solution was added per well, stirred mildly and kept at 37°C for 4 h. Subsequently crystals were dissolved by pippetting100 μ l solubilisation solution, DMSO, into each well.

Absorbance values were recorded at 570 nm using a microplate reader (VersaMaxTM). As a negative control, cells which were not treated with any of the agents were used. The absorbance readings from blank wells were obtained at 630 nm and deducted from absorbance readings of treated cells to exclude the background reading, thus to get normalized absorbance readings. Absorbance values read in triplicate.

The absorbance values corresponds to the number of metabolically active cells in culture. The percent of viable cells was determined by the formulation given below:

Cell viability (%) =
$$\frac{(\text{Absorbance of treated cells}-\text{Absorbance of blank})}{(\text{Absorbance of control}-\text{Absorbance of blank})} \times 100$$

5. TUNEL assay

TUNEL (TdT-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labelling) assay was conducted with In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit, Fluorescein, Roche to detect apoptosis. The basis of the TUNEL assay lies on tagging DNA strand breaks. In this study hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells were plated into a flat-bottomed 96- well plate as 5×10^4 cells/ml per well and OD EO and CV at doses given above in Research design section were applied on them. After 24 h of treatment, OD EO and CV has been removed from the wells. Afterwards, cells were air dried and were immobilized with 100 µl 4% Paraformaldehyde in PBS, pH 7.4, for 1 h at 15-25°C. Following this cells were washed with PBS and were permeabilized by keeping them in 100 µl 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1% sodium citrate for 2 min on ice. Following this cells were rinsed two times by using PBS. Cells were air dried and kept with 50 µl TUNEL reaction mixture for 1 h at 37°C in the dark. PBS wash has been done for the cells, this action was repeated 3 times.

Cells were analysed by fluorescence microscope and cells with fluoresceinpositive signals were regarded as cells that have DNA fragmentation showing the presence of apoptosis. Excitation wavelength should be 450-500 nm and detection should be 515-565 nm. For positive control fixed and permeabilized cells were incubated with 100 μ l DNase I recombinant for 10 min at 15-25 °C to generate DNA strand breaks before labelling stage. Incubation with 50 μ l Label solution as a substitute of TUNEL reaction mixture had done for negative control.

6. Statistical analysis

Data are given as the mean ± standard deviation (SD) of the three independent experiments. The results were interpreted by GraphPad Prism 9 software. The means among treatments were compared by one-way ANOVA followed Tukey's and Dunnett's tests. Tukey's test was conducted to associate the means among treatments, and Dunnett's test was conducted to associate the means between the treatments and the control group. Two-way ANOVA was conducted to associate the response between normal hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells. A p value of <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

CHAPTER IV

Findings

1. Assessment of hMSC-telo1 Cells and Their Tumorigenic Counterparts' Viability after Applying TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV

0.5 v/v % TC EO has been tested on normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells and proliferation of both of these cell lines have been negatively impacted (D. O. Yavuz et al., 2017). Thus lower concentrations, $1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ v/v} \%$, $2.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ v/v} \%$, $5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ v/v} \%$, $2.5 \times 10^{-2} \text{ v/v} \%$, and $5 \times 10^{-2} \text{ v/v} \%$, had preferred in current study.

hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells have been exposed to TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV and MTT assay was carried out to observe the biological reaction of these cells following the application of EOs and their main components.

With 1×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-3} v/v %, 5×10^{-3} v/v % and 5×10^{-2} v/v % TOH treatment normal hMSC-telo1 cells had shown to preserve their viability however with 2.5×10^{-2} v/v % TOH treatment this effect had not observed. For the tumorigenic hMSCtelo1cells, TOH has been cytotoxic at higher concentrations; 5×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-2} v/v % and 5×10^{-2} v/v % while preserved the viability at lower concentrations (Figure 3A and 3B). 5×10^{-2} v/v % TOH augmented hMSC-telo1 cells' viability in contrast to the control cells (p<0.001). In regards to the tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells, considerable level of cell death had recorded in contrast to the control cells (p<0.001). Similar trend was observed for 5×10^{-3} v/v % TOH in comparison with the control cells but the difference was not significant (p>0.05).
Figure 3

Viability of (A) hMSC-telo1 and (B) tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells. TC and OD EOs, TOH and CV were applied to cells at varying concentrations and kept for 24h. In order to evaluate the viable cell proportion MTT assay was done. The data are given as the mean \pm SD.



For all concentrations of TC EO except than 5×10^{-3} v/v %, significant cytotoxicity was observed for both normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells. 5×10^{-3} v/v % TC EO maintained hMSC-telo1 cells' viability in contrast to control cells (p=0.001), on the other hand it caused decline in the viability of tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells (p<0.001).

OD EO and its major constituent CV had been cytotoxic at different levels both towards tumorigenic and normal cells at 1×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-3} v/v %, 5×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-2} v/v %, 5×10^{-2} v/v % concentrations. However amongst the tested concentrations of OD EO and CV 1×10^{-3} v/v % is the concentration that had less cytotoxic effect on non-tumorigenic and tumorigenic cells while being highly cytotoxic at higher concentrations (Figure 3A and 3B). Cytotoxicity of CV had affected the normal healthy cells in great extend compared to the control cells at all concentrations (p= 0.030).

OD EO and CV revealed high cytotoxicity at all concentrations used in this investigation.

No significant differences were identified between normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 as 1×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-3} v/v %, 5×10^{-3} v/v %, 2.5×10^{-2} v/v %, 5×10^{-2} v/v %, 5×10^{-2} v/v % of TC EO, TOH, OD EO and CV were applied (p>0.05).

2. Assessment of Apoptosis of the hMSC-telo1 Cells and Their Tumorigenic Counterparts' after Applying OD EO and CV

After exposing normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells to OD EO and CV, TUNEL assay was conducted to further examine how these cells will respond to this treatment. TUNEL assay detects DNA fragmentation and the results show signals indicating cells with fragmented DNA. Fluorescent signals were observed for all concentrations and for both cell lines (Figure 4A and 4B). These findings propose that OD EO and CV can lead to cell death through DNA fragmentation. The apoptotic signals detected for tumorigenic cells after treatment with both OD EO and CV were more intense compared to normal hMSC-telo1 cells. Thus cytotoxicity of OD EO and CV that was shown by MTT assay, was also confirmed by TUNEL assay showing that they led cell death through apoptosis at all tested concentrations.

Overall, OD EO and CV had cytotoxic actions on both cell lines so their application at the concentrations used in the study cannot be recommended.

Figure 4

Examining apoptotic cell death. OD EO and CV applied on (A) hMSC-telo1 and (B) Tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells at varying concentrations. TUNEL assay was performed to examine the apoptotic cell death due to the cytotoxic actions of OD EO and CV. DNase I recombinant was applied as a positive control.





39

3. Assessment of hMSC-telo1 Cells' and Their Tumorigenic Counterparts' Viability after Applying TC EO, TOH, TC EO/TOH and DFX Combinations

As TC EO and TOH had showed promising activity by acting in a cytotoxic fashion to tumorigenic cells and also by maintaining the viability of non-tumorigenic healthy cells, they were tested together with DFX. 5×10^{-3} v/v % TC EO and 5×10^{-2} v/v % and 5×10^{-3} v/v % TOH were preferred to be used in combination treatment as these concentrations did not lead to death of healthy cells while led to tumorigenic cell death.

Normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells were treated with TC EO, TOH, DFX and also DFX was used together either with TC EO or TOH. Then MTT assay was done to examine the cell viability after these treatments.

 5×10^{-3} v/v % DFX, TC EO and TOH treatment lessen the amount of viable tumorigenic cells in contrast to the control cells whereas the proportion of the viable normal cells did not get affected in contrast to the control cells, though not significantly (p>0.05) (Figure 5A). When TC EO and TOH applied together with DFX, hMSC-telo1 cell viability enhanced in comparison with the cells exposed to only DFX. TC EO and TOH also led to tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cell death compared to control (Figure 5A) indicating that applying TC EO and TOH together with DFX can be favoured to protect the healthy cells from the actions of chemotherapeutic drugs. No significant differences were identified amongst the hMSC-telo1 cells and its tumorigenic counterpart when treated with 5×10^{-3} v/v % of TC EO, TOH, DFX or their combinations (p>0.05).

 5×10^{-2} v/v % TC EO treatment was cytotoxic towards hMSC-telo1 cells and its tumorigenic counterpart in contrast to the control cells (p=0.001, p=0,013), respectively (Figure 5B). 5×10^{-2} v/v % DFX led to decline in the amount of viable non-tumorigenic cells in contrast to control cells (p=0.036) however tumorigenic cell viability had augmented compared to the control cells, though not significantly (p>0.05) (Figure 5B). In contrast to TC EO, 5×10^{-2} v/v % TOH increased the proportion of the viable hMSC-telo1 cells while decreased the proportion for the tumorigenic ones in contrast with the control cells, but the difference was not significant (p>0.05) (Figure 5B). Applying TC EO or TOH together with DFX gave rise to similar results (Figure 5B). No significant

differences were identified among the hMSC-telo1 cells and its tumorigenic counterpart when treated with 5×10^{-2} v/v % of TC EO, TOH, DFX or their combinations (p>0.05).

Figure 5

Viability of normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells when exposed to TC and OD EOs, their primary constituents and DFX. (A) $5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ v/v} \%$ and (B) $5 \times 10^{-2} \text{ v/v} \%$ TC, TOH, DFX and combination of TC/TOH and DFX were applied and to evaluate the viable cell proportion MTT assay was done. The data are given as the mean \pm SD.



Discussion

Cancer is one of the key causes of mortality globally. Although widespread research is going on in the area to elucidate anticancer treatment strategies, there is still seek for novel treatment options which lead less side effects and are more effective. Reasons that prevent the current strategies not to be effective as needed can be listed as drug resistance, molecular heterogeneity and cytotoxicity of treatments on healthy normal cells. Natural products and their biologically active components can be regarded as possible candidates for anticancer therapies for their antiproliferative and cell death triggering activities (Bouhtit et al., 2021).

In this study possible cytotoxic action of TC and OD EO and their main constituents; TOH and CV on hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 have examined by conducting MTT assay. The novelty of our study is showing the cytotoxicity and anticancer activity of North Cyprus TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV against tumorigenic hMSCs and also their action on normal hMSCs for the first time.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are progenitor cells with a high self-renewal capacity and they can be isolated from several tissues. They also have various biological and immunological properties. MSCs can be used in various therapeutic applications like cell-based therapy however efficacy and safety of their use should be considered (Bouhtit et al., 2019). MSCs are simple and easy to isolate and they have great expansion potential and this makes them potential candidates for cell-based therapies (Bouhtit et al., 2019). MSC-based therapy has not been successful both in animal studies and clinical trials as there is no proper activation signal for MSCs, and due to inaccurate timing and MSC administration site (Krampera, 2011). In order to augment their therapeutic potential, MSCs are suggested to be combined with drugs (Bouhtit et al., 2019). Today combining MSCs with either a cell –product or a drug might be suggested as a potential therapeutic strategy. Combining anti-cancer drugs with MSCs can provide greater efficacy and lessen the toxicity compared to the standard treatments (Hendijani & Javanmard, 2015). As MSCs have immunological plasticity they may intensify the cytotoxicity of the drugs. In addition to that they are promoters and enhancers of the regenerative medicine and due to their regenerative and healing abilities, MSCs can shield the normal cells and injured/damaged tissues from the cytotoxic effects of the

cancer therapeutics (Bouhtit et al., 2019). They can replace the death cells and in addition to that as they have immunomodulatory functions, they provide therapeutic action. Using synthetic and semi-synthetic entities can cause side effects and they can be costly (Bouhtit et al., 2019). Thus, more safer, and effective approaches such as using natural products and their bioactive molecules should be adopted in MSC- based therapies. In this study, our results could suggest that combining EOs or their bioactive constituents with MSCs can provide a safe and effective cell- based therapy approach.

There are few studies conducted on North Cyprus TC, especially on the anticancer activity of it (D. O. Yavuz et al., 2017). There were also studies based on its cytotoxic and antimicrobial properties (Llana-Ruiz-Cabello et al., 2014) (Güvenir et al., 2020). There is a study showing that North Cyprus TC has proapoptotic and anticancer actions on human colon adenocarcinoma cell lines Colo-320, CD133+ Colo-320 (cancer stem cells), and CD133– Colo-320, where it was further triggered apoptosis of Colo-320 cells compared to CD133+ Colo-320 and CD133– Colo-320 cells (D. Ö. Yavuz et al., 2021).

A latest research deduced the cytotoxic activity of TC leaves' and stem' extracts on HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma, A-549 pulmonary epithelial, HCT-116 colon cancer and MCF-7 breast adenocarcinoma cell lines (Younes et al., 2022). Doxorubicin was selected as a standard treatment and to determine the amount of cells that were viable and cell that were undergone apoptosis, MTT assay and apoptosis assay were done. Study showed that leaves' extract was cytotoxic towards the A-549 and HepG2 cancer cell lines and stem's extract was cytotoxic towards A-549 cells (Younes et al., 2022). Apoptosis assay was conducted for A-549 cells and it was reported that leaves' extract led into S-phase arrest and apoptosis by activating caspase-3, p53 and Bax and down regulating Bcl-2 (Younes et al., 2022).

Several investigations are stating the anticancer activities of other members of the genus *Thymus* (Lamiaceae family).

T. vulgaris has shown to halt the development of the UMSCC1 tumor cells where genes related to interferon signaling, N-glycan biosynthesis and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5 (ERK5) signaling are being affected by the cytotoxicity of *T. vulgaris* (Sertel et al., 2011).

THP-1 leukemia cell line and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) have also treated with *Thymus vulgaris* L. extract and the viability of THP-1 cells was negatively affected. *Thymus vulgaris* L. extract was selectively cytotoxic towards THP-1 cells (Ayesh et al., 2014) so can be taken as a possible anticancer agent due to its selectivity.

Dried *T. vulgaris* has been given to rat mammary carcinoma and a syngeneic 4T1 mouse model in their diet and shown to led decrease in the tumor mass for both models (Kubatka et al., 2019).

Cervical adenocarcinoma cells, HeLa and MCF-7 were exposed to essential oil derived from *T. vulgaris* and it has been cytotoxic for both of the cell lines (A. N. Khalaf & Abed, 2021).

Thymus vulgaris L. EO with TOH as a major constituent has also tested on MCF -7, lung carcinoma H460 and acute lymphoblastic leukemia MOLT-4 cells and provided inhibition of all tested cells proportional to the dose (Niksic et al., 2021).

Another *in vitro* study has conducted with *Thymus broussonettii* EO from Morocco with CV as major constituent and it has been tested on human ovarian adenocarcinoma cell line OV1/P and on its chemoresistant complements (Ait M'Barek et al., 2007). *T. broussonettii* EO was cytotoxic for all cell lines (Ait M'Barek et al., 2007). *T. broussonettii* EO has been injected intra- tumor and it led to a decrease in the formation of solid tumor mass in mice (Ait M'Barek et al., 2007).

In regards to OD growing wild in Cyprus there are few studies. With OD there is a recent study reporting the use of OD EO for sanitation (Xylia et al., 2022). An investigation revealed that OD growing wild in Cyprus has antimicrobial activity (Karioti et al., 2006) and the other one has investigated antioxidant and antiinflammatory measures of OD (Karioti et al., 2015).

In vitro and *in vivo* investigations carried out for *Origanum* species to examine proliferation and cancer avoiding actions.

For the *O. vulgare* essential oil there have been several studies showing the antibacterial, antifungal, antiparasitic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antihyperglycemic, anti-Alzheimer properties and also showing that it has positive effects on skin disorders (Lombrea et al., 2020).

Proliferation preventative and cytotoxic action of *O. vulgare* EO have been reported on MCF-7 and HT-29 colon adenocarcinoma cell lines (Elansary et al., 2018) (Begnini et al., 2014). These actions were also shown on HeLa cells (Elansary et al., 2018). *O. vulgare* EO had also same actions on AGS stomach cancer cells (Balusamy et al., 2018), T24 bladder cancer and mouse 4T1 cancer cells (A. R. Khan et al., 2019). *O. vulgare ssp. hirtum* EO was tested on HepG2 and HEK293 immortalized embryonic kidney cells to assess its cytotoxicity and EO decreased the number of viable HepG2 cells while not showing great toxicity towards healthy HEK293 cells (Elshafie et al., 2017). Main constituents of the EO were CV, TOH, limonene and citrol and they were also assessed for their cytotoxicity on the tested cell lines and shown that CV and TOH selectively targeted tumor cells whilst did not have any cytotoxicity towards healthy renal cells, revealing the possibility that *O. vulgare ssp. hirtum* EO can selectively target the cancer cells (Elshafie et al., 2017).

However, it was stated that *O. vulgare* did not show proliferation preventative actions towards MCF7, adenocarcinoma cell line (Al-Kalaldeh et al., 2010).

Origanum syriacum extract led to a reduction on the viability of THP-1 and PBMCs however it targeted normal cells more than the leukemic cells so it is not regarded as potential selective agent in cancer treatments (Ayesh et al., 2014).

Human lymphoblastic leukemia cell line Jurkat treated with another Lamiaceae family member *Origanum majorana* extract and the study showed that the extract had halt the proliferation proportional to dose. It was also shown that extract triggers apoptosis through increasing p53 level and decreasing Bcl-2 level (Abdel-Massih et al., 2010). *O. majorana* EO was applied on metastatic MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line and it was reported that the level of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which play a part in invasion and metastasis were declined (Al Dhaheri et al., 2013). Al Dhaheri (2013) also presented that when chick embryo tumor growth assay had conducted with *O. majorana*, tumor growth and metastasis halted *in vivo* (Al Dhaheri et al., 2013). Another investigation testing *O. majorana* EO on HepG2, JTC- 26 cervical cancer cells and A549 lung cancer cells also demonstrated growth inbition for these cell lines (L. Zhou et al., 2021).

One of the latest investigations has suggested that one of the Lamiaceae family member *Origanum onites* L. EO has potential anticancer effect as it has been cytotoxic to different cancer cells lines (Gündogan & Nath, 2021). CV was shown to be the key constituent of the EO whilst it also contained TOH (Gündogan & Nath, 2021). It had antiproliferative action on A375 melanoma cells, MCF-7, HepG2, and HT-29 cells proportional to dose (Spyridopoulou et al., 2019).

TOH and CV are two of the key constituents of oregano and thyme EOs. EOs that are used in this investigation are derived from TC and OD grown wild in North Cyprus and their major constituents are TOH and CV, respectively.

Numerous investigations have shown the anticancer actions of TOH, CV and also the EOs containing these compounds and which is primarily because of the existence of TOH, CV or both of them.

A recent study tested TOH on U87 human malignant glioblastoma cells and it was revealed that TOH can trigger apoposis, elevate the ROS levels and also elevate the levels of proapoptotic factors Bax and p53 (Qoorchi Moheb Seraj et al., 2022). Its actions on apoptosis were also identified when bladder cancer cells were exposed to TOH where apoptotic intrinsic pathway was activated by executioner caspase-3, initiator caspase-9, release of cytochrome c, and decline in the levels of Bcl-2 (Li et al., 2017). Zeng et al. (2020) revealed that TOH has antitumor action both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Zeng et al., 2020). Apoptosis and cell cycle arrest has been observed in colorectal cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* treatment with TOH provided a considerable reduction in tumor volume as triggered apoptosis by activating BAX/Bcl-2 cascade (Zeng et al., 2020). Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* it also prevented colorectal cancer cell epithelial–mesenchymal transition (EMT), invasion, and metastasis by preventing the induction of Wnt/ β -catenin cascade (Zeng et al., 2020). TOH had similar actions on the acute promyelotic cancer cell line HL-60 as led to reduction in Bcl2 and elevation in Bax levels and induction of caspase -9, -8 and -3 (Deb et al., 2011).

A recent studies showed that TOH can trigger disruption of mitochondrial functioning and cancer cells death through apoptosis (Islam et al., 2019). It also has an proliferation halting activity on cancerous cells (Islam et al., 2019). However it has

cytoprotective, antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory and antigenotoxic activity on normal cells (Islam et al., 2019).

CV showed potential anticancer action both *in vitro* and *in vivo* investigations. It has applied on A549 cell line (Koparal & Zeytinoglu, 2003) and led to the apoptosis while another studies showed that inhibition of AXL expression and elevated malondialdehyde (MDA) and hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) level is responsible for the action of CV (Ozkan & Erdogan, 2012) (Jung et al., 2018).

When CV was applied on Caco-2 cancer cells the cell viability had reduced (Llana-Ruiz-Cabello et al., 2014). It also led to apoptosis of HepG2 hepatocarcinoma cells through mitochondrial - and caspase – mediated pathways (Melušová, Jantová, et al., 2014). CV can also trigger apoptosis through G1 and S phase arrest (Melušová, Slamenova, et al., 2014). CV has also halted proliferation of HCT116 and HT-29 cells (Pakdemirli et al., 2020). Another study on two colon cancer cell lines HCT116 and LoVo showed that CV inhibited their proliferation and migration. CV also induced apoptosis in these cell lines through mitochondrial apoptotic pathway and the MAPK and phosphoinositide 3-kinase/ protein kinase B (PI3K/Akt) signaling pathways where there is reduction in Bcl-2 levels and enhancement in Bax and c-Jun levels (Fan et al., 2015).

CV is applied to chemosensitive MCF-7 cells and apoptosis is triggered as Bcl-2 levels decreased, Bax and caspase -3, 6, and 9 levels increased (Al-fatlawi, Rahisuddin & Ahmad, 2014). CV has also tested on HeLa and SiHa and it had been cytotoxic towards these cell lines and apoptotic cell death had reported (Enkhtaivan et al., 2017).

The mentioned studies together with several other studies are demonstrating the anticancer activity of CV on MDA-MB-231, HepG2, DU145 (human prostate cancer) cells (F. Khan et al., 2023).

In vitro investigations also presented the anticancer activity of CV. An investigation revealed that decline in the number of tumors has observed when CV was administered to DMBA-triggered breast cancer in female rats (Rojas-Armas et al., 2020). There are also studies on hepatocellular carcinoma in Wistar rats. Reduction in the tumor growth with the administration of CV was observed in one of the studies (Subramaniyan et al., 2014). It was shown that CV led to apoptosis in hepatocellular

carcinoma and also also have chemopreventative, antiproliferative and antiangiogenic activity on hepatocellular carcinoma (Jayakumar et al., 2012) (Hanaa H. Ahmed et al., 2013).

The capability of TOH and CV to trigger apoptosis might be a used as a potent strategy to develop potential novel drugs against cancer.

In our study it was observed that at only 5×10^{-3} v/v % TC EO did not lead to a decline in the proportion of viable normal hMSC-telo1 cells, while had cytotoxic effect towards tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells. It was highly cytotoxic towards both cell lines at other tested higher concentrations. Its major constituent TOH augmented the proportion of the normal cells and induced an considerable level of tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cell death at 5×10^{-3} v/v % and 5×10^{-2} v/v % concentrations. Thus, our results shows that TC EO and TOH specifically targeted tumor cells while not being cytotoxic towards healthy cells and this is highly crucial and important in the development of new anticancer approaches as standard treatment options mostly lack this ability. Jaafari *et al.* in accordance with our results demonstrated that 0.5% (v/v) of TOH did not have cytotoxicity towards healthy human peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and led to the proliferation of these cells (Jaafari et al., 2007). Preserving the viability of normal cells and leading to tumorigenic cell death make the TC EO and TOH potent candidates for deducing novel anticancer treatment approaches.

Present findings are to a certain degree in line with the preceding investigation which revealed that TOH and CV had enhancing impacts on healthy MSCs for their viability, proliferation and preserving from cytotoxicity when compared to *Ptychotis verticillata* essential oil with high TOH and CV content (Bouhtit et al., 2019). Thus, the cytotoxic effect observed might be due to the presence of TOH or CV or the presence of multiple components together in EOs.

Thus, it could be suggested that 5×10^{-3} v/v % TC EO and 5×10^{-2} v/v % and 5×10^{-3} v/v % TOH can perform for augmenting the chemotherapeutic drugs whereas stimulating proliferation in healthy hMSC –telo1 cells. DFX was preferred as a standard chemotherapeutic agent in this study and considered as a positive control which is critical when comparing the outcome of novel candidate for cancer treatment (Sampaio et al., 2021). DFX is an iron chelator and an anti-cancer agent, and it has been taken as

chemotherapeutic agent as it has promising *in vitro* and *in vivo* anticancer actions towards multiple cancerous cell types. On leukemia and hepatoma cell lines, DFX shown to have *in vitro* antitumor activity (Lescoat et al., 2007) (Ohyashiki et al., 2009). Later on, its' *in vitro* antitumor action has also been recorded on solid human tumor xenografts (Lui et al., 2013). *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies showed that it can halt the proliferative capacity of pancreatic cancer cells (Harima et al., 2016) and also prevent metastasis of metastatic pancreatic cancers where pancreatic cancers generally form metastatic lesions (Amano et al., 2020). Recently it was revealed that DFX is a good candidate to be used for cervical cancer treatment as it prevented cervical cancer cell proliferation (N. Zhou et al., 2022).

Within last ten years EOs are proposed to be applied together with standard chemotherapeutic agents to lessen the side effects arising due to chemotherapeutic agents or they might provide new anticancer entities (Gautam et al., 2014). Some EO constituents also increased the cytotoxicity of the chemotherapeutic agents on several cell lines, this led to reduction in the dose of chemotherapeutics while offering the same outcome (Blowman et al., 2018).

Utilization of TC EO and TOH together with DFX augmented the proportion of the viable hMSC-telo1 cells and the deleterious actions of DFX on healthy cells have been critically eradicated.

OD EO and CV led to death of both normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells at all tested concentrations. In order to assess the reaction of the normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells towards OD EO and CV more, TUNEL assay was conducted and was shown that OD EO and CV induced apoptosis. Cytotoxicity of OD EO and CV was at the considerable level both for the healthy hMSC-telo1 cells and their tumorigenic counterpart so this limits their practice at concentrations chosen in the current study. Testing lower concentrations of OD EO and CV on healthy hMSC-telo1 cells and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells might be useful to assess their anticancer potential as they showed cytotoxicity towards tumorigenic cells and as there are several studies mentioned above showing their possible cancer preventative actions towards different cancer cell types. The outcomes from TUNEL assay was also in line with the preceding investigations as they revealed that the cell death due to the exposure of cells to OD EO and CV was due to the induction of apoptosis.

A systematic literature review also suggested that both CV and TOH have anticancer and antiproliferative capacity and *in vitro* carvacrol seems to be more cytotoxic towards some cell lines compared to TOH (Sampaio et al., 2021). Cytotoxicity of six monoterpenes (carvacrol, thymol, carveol, carvone, eugenol and isopulegol) have been compared as they were tested on five tumor cell lines (K-562, P-815, CEM, MCF-7 and MCF-7 gem) (Jaafari et al., 2012). As a result of that study it was shown that carvacrol is the most cytotoxix amongst all (Jaafari et al., 2012).

Investigations revealed that CV can have a negative impact on some normal cell lines while it might not have any cytotoxic effect on other normal cells (Sampaio et al., 2021). CV had cytotoxic impact on human fibroblast cells (WS-1) at higher concentration, while led to proliferation of the cells at lower concentrations (Günes-Bayir et al., 2018). For CV there has also been phase I clinical trial that healthy subjects have administered with CV (1 or 2 mg/kg daily) and there has been no side effects observed (Ghorani et al., 2021). Accordingly the link between the concentration and effect should be studied further to define concentration that does not lead to negative effect on normal cells.

If we compare the cytotoxicity of TC EO and TOH or OD EO and CV both on normal hMSC-telo1 and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1cells, it would be observed that EOs are more cytotoxic compared to their major constituents. This could be due to the synergistic action of the constituents of the EOs, especially due to the action of TOH or CV together with other components. Some studies revealed that it might be possible that the action of the major constituents is regulated by minor constituents (Bakkali et al., 2008) (Özkan & Erdoğan, 2011). Components of the EOs are responsible for important aspects such as cell penetration or cellular distribution which are important for the transport of the EO in to the target cells, thus assessing the EO first might provide more information for its biological activities (Bakkali et al., 2008).

Overall, our results suggest that TC and TOH have promising anticancer effect and can be combined to be used as enhancers of conventional chemotherapy drugs to increase their therapeutic potential. Additionally using TC and TOH in combination with chemotherapeutic agents might provide a potent strategy to preserve or enhance the viability of normal cells and protect them form the side effects of the chemotherapeutic agents, while inducing tumorigenic cell death. At lower concentrations TC EO and TOH did not lead to reduction in the proportion of viable normal, healthy hMSC-telo1 cells, providing us a desirable property to be used in therapeutic perspective.

A systematic review conducted assess the antitumor activity of CV and TOH has suggested that more *in vivo* studies with more potent and effective methodology is needed to determine a standard and safe dose, assess the toxicity and side effects and elucidate accurate mechanisms of action (Sampaio et al., 2021). In addition to these for TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV studies are reporting their anticancer potential however there is need for clinical trials investigating the therapeutic effectiveness of these. For cancer treatment effective targeted drug delivery is required and studies should focus on identifying cellular processes underlying the antitumor actions of EOs and/or their major constituents and novel molecular targets for EOs and/or their major elements. Pharmacokinetic status, safety, as well as toxicity of EOs should also be assessed before clinical use. These will increase the efficacy and selectivity of EOs and their constituents. Constituent of EOs with anticancer activity can also be modified synthetically to improve their activity and selectivity.

CHAPTER VI

Conclusion

In light of our and others findings it could be concluded that TC EO and its major constituent TOH are promising agents to be used in cancer therapeutic approaches as they have potential to reduce the proportion of viable tumorigenic hMSC cells and to enhance the proportion of viable normal healthy hMSC cells. Moreover, they have acted as enhancers for the therapeutic potential of conventional chemotherapy drugs. For TC EO 5×10^{-3} v/v% and for TOH both 5×10^{-3} v/v% and 5×10^{-2} v/v% are suggested as preferred concentrations. In addition, 5×10^{-3} v/v% of TC and TOH used in combination with DFX provided promising outcome compared to 5×10^{-2} v/v% in regard to their potential to reduce the viability of tumorigenic cells.

Our results and previous studies suggest that combining TC EO and thymol with conventional cancer therapies might provide an effective novel approach that can enhance the therapeutic action of current cancer therapies. They can also be considered as adjuvants to standard cancer treatment options. Additionally combining TC EO or thymol with hMSCs may offer a cell-based unique approach to augment the therapeutic efficacy in cancer treatment.

Overall this and other studies demonstrated that EOs and their constituents are potent bioactive agents for pharmaceutical and therapeutic application and their use in clinical settings and applications should be considered.

Recommendations and Future Perspectives

In order to strengthen our findings and conclusions driven from the study following steps can be taken.

- In this study all experiments were done in triplicates yet further repeats had to be done.
- TUNEL assay can be conducted for the cells exposed to TC EO and TOH.
- OD and CV should be tested at lower concentrations.

- Apoptotic activities of EOs and major constituents used in the study can be considered by immunocytochemistry using antibodies towards apoptotic factors.
- The biochemical and cellular processes forming the core of the actions of tested EO and their major constituents can be investigated.
- *In vivo* investigations can be carried out to assess the anticancer capability of TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV.
- For the efficient delivery of the tested agents to tumorigenic cells nanoencapsulation of TC EO, OD EO, TOH and CV can be performed and nano-encapsulated EOs and their constituents can be tested on normal and tumorigenic hMSC-telo1 cells. The findings can be compared with the findings of the current study.
- Apoptotic activity of EOs and major constituents can also be additionally investigated through gene and protein expression analyses.

References

- Abdel-Massih, R. M., Fares, R., Bazzi, S., El-Chami, N., & Baydoun, E. (2010). The apoptotic and anti-proliferative activity of Origanum majorana extracts on human leukemic cell line. *Leukemia Research*, 34(8), 1052–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2009.09.018
- Ait M'Barek, L., Ait Mouse, H., Jaâfari, A., Aboufatima, R., Benharref, A., Kamal, M., Bénard, J., El Abbadi, N., Bensalah, M., Gamouh, A., Chait, A., Dalal, A., & Zyad, A. (2007). Cytotoxic effect of essential oil of thyme (Thymus broussonettii) on the IGR-OV1 tumor cells resistant to chemotherapy. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 40(11), 1537–1544. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-879X2007001100014
- Al-fatlawi, Rahisuddin, A. A., & Ahmad, A. (2014). Cytotoxicity and pro-apoptotic activity of carvacrol on human breast cancer cell line MCF-7. World Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2–7.
- Al-Kalaldeh, J. Z., Abu-Dahab, R., & Afifi, F. U. (2010). Volatile oil composition and antiproliferative activity of Laurus nobilis, Origanum syriacum, Origanum vulgare, and Salvia triloba against human breast adenocarcinoma cells. *Nutrition Research*, 30(4), 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2010.04.001
- Al Dhaheri, Y., Attoub, S., Arafat, K., AbuQamar, S., Viallet, J., Saleh, A., Al Agha, H., Eid, A., & Iratni, R. (2013). Anti-Metastatic and Anti-Tumor Growth Effects of Origanum majorana on Highly Metastatic Human Breast Cancer Cells: Inhibition of NFκB Signaling and Reduction of Nitric Oxide Production. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068808
- Amano, S., Kaino, S., Shinoda, S., Harima, H., Matsumoto, T., Fujisawa, K., Takami, T., Yamamoto, N., Yamasaki, T., & Sakaida, I. (2020). Invasion inhibition in pancreatic cancer using the oral iron chelating agent deferasirox. *BMC Cancer*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-020-07167-8
- Amorati, R., Foti, M. C., & Valgimigli, L. (2013). Antioxidant activity of essential oils. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(46), 10835–10847. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf403496k
- Arruebo, M., Vilaboa, N., Sáez-Gutierrez, B., Lambea, J., Tres, A., Valladares, M., &

González-Fernández, Á. (2011). Assessment of the evolution of cancer treatment therapies. *Cancers*, *3*(3), 3279–3330. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3033279

- Arunasree, K. M. (2010). Anti-proliferative effects of carvacrol on a human metastatic breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB 231. *Phytomedicine*, 17(8–9), 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2009.12.008
- Atanasov, A. G., Zotchev, S. B., Dirsch, V. M., Orhan, I. E., Banach, M., Rollinger, J. M., Barreca, D., Weckwerth, W., Bauer, R., Bayer, E. A., Majeed, M., Bishayee, A., Bochkov, V., Bonn, G. K., Braidy, N., Bucar, F., Cifuentes, A., D'Onofrio, G., Bodkin, M., ... Supuran, C. T. (2021). Natural products in drug discovery: advances and opportunities. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, *20*(3), 200–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-00114-z
- Ayesh, B. M., Abed, A. A., & Faris, D. M. (2014). In vitro inhibition of human leukemia THP-1 cells by Origanum syriacum L. and Thymus vulgaris L. extracts. *BMC Research Notes*, 7(612).
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., & Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils - A review. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46(2), 446–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007.09.106
- Balusamy, S. R., Perumalsamy, H., Huq, M. A., & Balasubramanian, B. (2018). Antiproliferative activity of Origanum vulgare inhibited lipogenesis and induced mitochondrial mediated apoptosis in human stomach cancer cell lines. *Biomedicine* and Pharmacotherapy, 108(October), 1835–1844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.10.028
- Begnini, K. R., Nedel, F., Lund, R. G., Carvalho, P. H. D. A., Rodrigues, M. R. A., Beira, F. T. A., & Del-Pino, F. A. B. (2014). Composition and antiproliferative effect of essential oil of origanum vulgare against tumor cell lines. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 17(10), 1129–1133. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2013.0063
- Bhalla, Y., Gupta, V. K., & Jaitak, V. (2013). Anticancer activity of essential oils: A review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 93(15), 3643–3653. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.6267
- Blowman, K., Magalhães, M., & Lemos, M. F. L. (2018). Anticancer Properties of Essential Oils and Other Natural Products. *Evidence-Based Complementary and*

Alternative Medicine, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3149362

- Bouhtit, F., Najar, M., Agha, D. M., Melki, R., Najimi, M., Sadki, K., Lewalle, P.,
 Hamal, A., Lagneaux, L., & Merimi, M. (2019). The biological response of
 mesenchymal stromal cells to thymol and carvacrol in comparison to their essential
 oil: An innovative new study. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *134*(September),
 110844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2019.110844
- Bouhtit, F., Najar, M., Moussa Agha, D., Melki, R., Najimi, M., Sadki, K., Boukhatem, N., Bron, D., Meuleman, N., Hamal, A., Lagneaux, L., Lewalle, P., & Merimi, M. (2021). New anti-leukemic effect of carvacrol and thymol combination through synergistic induction of different cell death pathways. *Molecules*, 26(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26020410
- Burt, S. (2004). Essential oils: Their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods - A review. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 94(3), 223–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.03.022
- Camilo, C. J., Duarte Leite, D. O., de Fatima Alves Nonato, C., Gomes de Carvalho, N.
 K., Ribeiro, D. A., & Martins da Costa, J. G. (2022). Traditional use of the genus
 Lippia sp. and pesticidal potential: A review. *Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*, 40(January). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2022.102296
- Chapa, J. J. D. La, Singha, P. K., Lee, D. R., & Gonzales, C. B. (2018). Thymol Inhibits Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Growth via Mitochondria-Mediated Apoptosis. J Oral Pathol Med, 47(7), 674–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/jop.12735.Thymol
- Christensen, R., Alsner, J., Sorensen, F. B., Dagnaes-Hansen, F., Kolvraa, S., & Serakinci, N. (2008). Transformation of human mesenchymal stem cells in radiation carcinogenesis: Long-term effect of ionizing radiation. *Regenerative Medicine*, 3(6), 849–861. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460751.3.6.849
- Cragg, G. M., & Newman, D. J. (2005). Plants as a source of anti-cancer agents. *Journal* of *Ethnopharmacology*, *100*(1–2), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2005.05.011
- de Almeida de Souza, G. H., dos Santos Radai, J. A., Vaz, M. S. M., da Silva, K. E., Fraga, T. L., Barbosa, L. S., & Simionatto, S. (2021). In vitro and in vivo antibacterial activity assays of carvacrol: A candidate for development of innovative treatments against KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae. *PLoS ONE*,

16(2 February), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246003

- De Andrade, T. U., Brasil, G. A., Endringer, D. C., Da Nóbrega, F. R., & De Sousa, D.
 P. (2017). Cardiovascular activity of the chemical constituents of essential oils.
 Molecules, 22(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091539
- de Sousa, D. P., Damasceno, R. O. S., Amorati, R., Elshabrawy, H. A., de Castro, R. D., Bezerra, D. P., Nunes, V. R. V., Gomes, R. C., & Lima, T. C. (2023). Essential Oils: Chemistry and Pharmacological Activities. *Biomolecules*, 13(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13071144
- Deb, D. D., Parimala, G., Saravana Devi, S., & Chakraborty, T. (2011). Effect of thymol on peripheral blood mononuclear cell PBMC and acute promyelotic cancer cell line HL-60. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 193(1), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2011.05.009
- Debela, D. T., Muzazu, S. G., Heraro, K. D., Ndalama, M. T., Mesele, B. W., Haile, D. C., Kitui, S. K., & Manyazewal, T. (2021). New approaches and procedures for cancer treatment: Current perspectives. SAGE Open Medicine, 9, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/20503121211034366
- Elansary, H. O., Abdelgaleil, S. A. M., Mahmoud, E. A., Yessoufou, K., Elhindi, K., & El-Hendawy, S. (2018). Effective antioxidant, antimicrobial and anticancer activities of essential oils of horticultural aromatic crops in northern Egypt. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *18*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-018-2262-1
- Elshafie, H. S., Armentano, M. F., Carmosino, M., Bufo, S. A., De Feo, V., & Camele, I. (2017). Cytotoxic activity of origanum vulgare L. on Hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 and evaluation of its biological activity. *Molecules*, 22(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091435
- Enkhtaivan, G., Kim, D. H., & Pandurangan, M. (2017). Cytotoxic effect of TDZ on human cervical cancer cells. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 173(2), 493–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2017.06.032
- Fan, K., Li, X., Cao, Y., Qi, H., Li, L., Zhang, Q., & Sun, H. (2015). Carvacrol inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in human colon cancer cells. *Anti-Cancer Drugs*, 26(8), 813–823. https://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.00000000000263

- Figueiredo, A. C. (2017). Biological properties of essential oils and volatiles: Sources of variability. *Natural Volatiles and Essential Oils*, *4*(4), 1–13.
- Fresco, P., Borges, F., Diniz, C., & Marques, M. P. M. (2006). New insights on the anticancer properties of dietary polyphenols. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 26(6), 747–766. https://doi.org/10.1002/med.20060
- Galovičová, L., Borotová, P., Valková, V., Vukovic, N. L., Vukic, M., Štefániková, J.,
 Ďúranová, H., Kowalczewski, P. Ł., Čmiková, N., & Kačániová, M. (2021).
 Thymus vulgaris essential oil and its biological activity. *Plants*, *10*(9), 1–17.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10091959
- Gautam, N., Mantha, A. K., & Mittal, S. (2014). Essential oils and their constituents as anticancer agents: A mechanistic view. In *BioMed Research International*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/154106
- Ghorani, V., Alavinezhad, A., Rajabi, O., Mohammadpour, A. H., & Boskabady, M. H. (2021). Safety and tolerability of carvacrol in healthy subjects: a phase I clinical study. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, 44(2), 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/01480545.2018.1538233
- Gündogan, G. I., & Nath, E. Ö. (2021). In vitro physiological effects of origanum onites L. (lamiaceae) essential oil treatment on human origin cell lines. *Turkish Journal of Botany*, 45(2), 158–171. https://doi.org/10.3906/bot-2010-40
- Günes-Bayir, A., Kocyigit, A., & Güler, E. M. (2018). In vitro effects of two major phenolic compounds from the family Lamiaceae plants on the human gastric carcinoma cells. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 34(8), 525–539. https://doi.org/10.1177/0748233718761698
- Güvenir, M., Hanoğlu, D., Hano-Lu, A., Süer, K., Başer, H. C., Yavuz, D. Ö., & Şalidağ, T. (2020). Antimicrobial activity of the essential oil of Thymus capitatus against Helicobacter pylori. *Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica - Drug Research*, 77(1), 155–160. https://doi.org/10.32383/appdr/115518
- Hammer, K. A., Carson, C. F., & Riley, T. V. (1999). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 86(6), 985–990. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.1999.00780.x

Hanaa H. Ahmed, Wafaa Ghoneim Shousha, Hatem El-mezayen, Nora N. Ismaiel, &

Nadia S. Mahmoud. (2013). in Vivo Antitumor Potential of Carvacrol Against Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Rat Model. *World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2(5), 2367–2396.

- Hanoglu, A., Hanoglu, D. Y., Demirci, B., & Yavuz, D. Ö. (2017). Chemical Composition of Essential Oil of the Aerial Parts of Wild Growing Thymus capitatus (L.) Hoffm. & Link Species Collected from Three Different Locations in Northern Cyprus. *Journal of Essential Oil-Bearing Plants*, 20(2), 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2017.1305917
- Harima, H., Kaino, S., Takami, T., Shinoda, S., Matsumoto, T., Fujisawa, K.,
 Yamamoto, N., Yamasaki, T., & Sakaida, I. (2016). Deferasirox, a novel oral iron chelator, shows antiproliferative activity against pancreatic cancer in vitro and in vivo. *BMC Cancer*, *16*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2744-9
- Hendijani, F., & Javanmard, S. H. (2015). Dual protective and cytotoxic benefits of mesenchymal stem cell therapy in combination with chemotherapy/radiotherapy for cancer patients. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, 25(3), 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2015013843
- Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N., & Sarkar, S. (2014). Drug resistance in cancer: An overview. *Cancers*, 6(3), 1769–1792. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers6031769
- Islam, M. T., Khalipha, A. B. R., Bagchi, R., Mondal, M., Smrity, S. Z., Uddin, S. J., Shilpi, J. A., & Rouf, R. (2019). Anticancer activity of thymol: A literature-based review and docking study with Emphasis on its anticancer mechanisms. *IUBMB Life*, 71(1), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1935
- Jaafari, A., Mouse, H. A., Rakib, E. M., M'barek, L. A., Tilaoui, M., Benbakhta, C., Boulli, A., Abbad, A., & Zyad, A. (2007). Chemical composition and antitumor activity of different wild. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 17(4), 477–491.
- Jaafari, A., Tilaoui, M., Mouse, H. A., M'Bark, L. A., Aboufatima, R., Chait, A., Lepoivre, M., & Zyad, A. (2012). Comparative study of the antitumor effect of natural monoterpenes: Relationship to cell cycle analysis. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 22(3), 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-695X2012005000021

- Jayakumar, S., Madankumar, A., Asokkumar, S., Raghunandhakumar, S., Gokula Dhas, K., Kamaraj, S., Josephine Divya, M. G., & Devaki, T. (2012). Potential preventive effect of carvacrol against diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocellular carcinoma in rats. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 360(1–2), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-011-1043-7
- Ji, H. F., Li, X. J., & Zhang, H. Y. (2009). Natural products and drug discovery: Can thousands of years of ancient medical knowledge lead us to new and powerful drug combinations in the fight against cancer and dementia? *EMBO Reports*, 10(3), 194– 200. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2009.12
- Jung, C. Y., Kim, S. Y., & Lee, C. (2018). Carvacrol targets AXL to inhibit cell proliferation and migration in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Anticancer Research*, 38(1), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.12219
- Karadağlıoğlu, Ö. İ., Ulusoy, N., Başer, K. H. C., Hanoğlu, A., & Şık, İ. (2019).
 Antibacterial activities of herbal toothpastes combined with essential oils against streptococcus mutans. *Pathogens*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens8010020
- Karioti, A., Vrahimi-Hadjilouca, T., Droushiotis, D., Rancic, A., Hadjipavlou-Litina, D., & Skaltsa, H. (2006). Analysis of the essential oil of Origanum dubium growing wild in Cyprus. Investigation of its antioxidant capacity and antimicrobial activity. *Planta Medica*, 72(14), 1330–1334. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-947255
- Karioti, Anastasia, Milošević-Ifantis, T., Pachopos, N., Niryiannaki, N., Hadjipavlou-Litina, D., & Skaltsa, H. (2015). Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory potential and chemical constituents of Origanum dubium Boiss., growing wild in Cyprus. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*, 30(1), 38–43. https://doi.org/10.3109/14756366.2013.871008
- Khalaf, A. A., Elhady, M. A., Hassanen, E. I., Azouz, A. A., Ibrahim, M. A., Galal, M. K., Noshy, P. A., & Azouz, R. A. (2021). Antioxidant Role of Carvacrol Against Hepatotoxicity and Nephrotoxicity Induced by Propiconazole in Rats. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, *31*(1), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43450-021-00127-8
- Khalaf, A. N., & Abed, I. J. (2021). Evaluating the in vitro cytotoxicity of thymus vulgaris Essential Oil on MCF-7 and HeLa cancer cell lines. *Iraqi Journal of*

Science, 62(9), 2862–2871. https://doi.org/10.24996/ijs.2021.62.9.3

- Khan, A. R., Nadeem, M., Aqeel Bhutto, M., Yu, F., Xie, X., El-Hamshary, H., El-Faham, A., Ibrahim, U. A., & Mo, X. (2019). Physico-chemical and biological evaluation of PLCL/SF nanofibers loaded with oregano essential oil. *Pharmaceutics*, 11(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11080386
- Khan, F., Pandey, P., Maqsood, R., & Upadhyay, T. K. (2023). Anticancer Effects of Carvacrol in In Vitro and In Vivo Models: A Comprehensive Review. *Biointerface Research in Applied Chemistry*, 13(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.33263/BRIAC133.290
- Khan, I., Bahuguna, A., Kumar, P., Bajpai, V. K., & Kang, S. C. (2018). In vitro and in vivo antitumor potential of carvacrol nanoemulsion against human lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells via mitochondrial mediated apoptosis. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 712–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18644-9
- Khan, M. I., Bouyahya, A., Hachlafi, N. E. L., Menyiy, N. El, Akram, M., Sultana, S., Zengin, G., Ponomareva, L., Shariati, M. A., Ojo, O. A., Dall'Acqua, S., & Elebiyo, T. C. (2022). Anticancer properties of medicinal plants and their bioactive compounds against breast cancer: a review on recent investigations. In *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* (Vol. 29, Issue 17). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17795-7
- Khazraei, H., Shamsdin, S. A., & Zamani, M. (2022). In Vitro Cytotoxicity and Apoptotic Assay of Eucalyptus globulus Essential Oil in Colon and Liver Cancer Cell Lines. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Cancer*, 53(2), 363–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-021-00601-5
- Koparal, A. T., & Zeytinoglu, M. (2003). Effects of carvacrol on a human non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cell line, A549. *Cytotechnology*, 43(1–3), 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:CYTO.0000039917.60348.45
- Koutsaviti, A., Bazos, I., Milenkovic, M., Pavlović-Drobac, M., & Tzakou, O. (2013).
 Antimicrobial activity and essential oil composition of five sideritis taxa of empedoclia and hesiodia sect. from Greece. *Records of Natural Products*, 7(1), 6–14.

Krampera, M. (2011). Mesenchymal stromal cell licensing: A multistep process.

Leukemia, 25(9), 1408–1414. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2011.108

- Kubatka, P., Uramova, S., Kello, M., Kajo, K., Samec, M., Jasek, K., Vybohova, D., Liskova, A., Mojzis, J., Adamkov, M., Zubor, P., Smejkal, K., Svajdlenka, E., Solar, P., Samuel, S. M., Zulli, A., Kassayova, M., Lasabova, Z., Kwon, T. K., ... Büsselberg, D. (2019). Anticancer activities of thymus vulgaris L. In experimental breast carcinoma in vivo and in vitro. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20071749
- Lescoat, G., Chantrel-Groussard, K., Pasdeloup, N., Nick, H., Brissot, P., & Gaboriau, F. (2007). Antiproliferative and apoptotic effects in rat and human hepatoma cell cultures of the orally active iron chelator ICL670 compared to CP20: A possible relationship with polyamine metabolism. *Cell Proliferation*, 40(5), 755–767. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.2007.00468.x
- Li, Y., Wen, J. ming, Du, C. jun, Hu, S. min, Chen, J. xi, Zhang, S. geng, Zhang, N., Gao, F., Li, S. jiang, Mao, X. wa, Miyamoto, H., & Ding, K. feng. (2017). Thymol inhibits bladder cancer cell proliferation via inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 491(2), 530– 536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.04.009
- Llana-Ruiz-Cabello, M., Gutiérrez-Praena, D., Pichardo, S., Moreno, F. J., Bermúdez, J. M., Aucejo, S., & Cameán, A. M. (2014). Cytotoxicity and morphological effects induced by carvacrol and thymol on the human cell line Caco-2. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 64, 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2013.12.005
- Lombrea, A., Antal, D., Ardelean, F., Avram, S., Pavel, I. Z., Vlaia, L., Mut, A. M., Diaconeasa, Z., Dehelean, C. A., Soica, C., & Danciu, C. (2020). A recent insight regarding the phytochemistry and bioactivity of origanum vulgare l. Essential oil. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(24), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21249653
- Lui, G. Y. L., Obeidy, P., Ford, S. J., Tselepis, C., Sharp, D. M., Jansson, P. J.,
 Kalinowski, D. S., Kovacevic, Z., Lovejoy, D. B., & Richardson, D. R. (2013). The
 iron chelator, deferasirox, as a novel strategy for cancer treatment: Oral activity
 against human lung tumor xenografts and molecular mechanism of actions. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 83(1), 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.112.081893

- Manjamalai, A., & Grace, B. (2013). Chemotherapeutic effect of essential oil of Wedelia chinensis (Osbeck) on inducing apoptosis, suppressing angiogenesis and lung metastasis in V57BL/6 mice model. *Journal of Cancer Science and Therapy*, 5(7), 271–281. https://doi.org/10.4172/1948-5956.1000216
- Melušová, M., Jantová, S., & Horváthová, E. (2014). Carvacrol and rosemary oil at higher concentrations induce apoptosis in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 7(4), 189–194. https://doi.org/10.2478/intox-2014-0027
- Melušová, M., Slamenova, D., Kozics, K., Jantova, S., & Horvathova, E. (2014).
 Carvacrol and rosemary essential oil manifest cytotoxic, DNA-protective and proapoptotic effect having no effect on DNA repair. *Neoplasma*, *61*(6), 690–699. https://doi.org/10.4149/neo
- Moses, M. A., Brem, H., & Langer, R. (2003). Advancing the field of drug delivery:Taking aim at cancer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 4(5), 337–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-3659(94)90121-X
- Niksic, H., Becic, F., Koric, E., Gusic, I., Omeragic, E., Muratovic, S., Miladinovic, B., & Duric, K. (2021). Cytotoxicity screening of Thymus vulgaris L. essential oil in brine shrimp nauplii and cancer cell lines. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92679-x
- Ohyashiki, J. H., Kobayashi, C., Hamamura, R., Okabe, S., Tauchi, T., & Ohyashiki, K. (2009). The oral iron chelator deferasirox represses signaling through the mTOR in myeloid leukemia cells by enhancing expression of REDD1. *Cancer Science*, *100*(5), 970–977. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01131.x
- Ozkan, A., & Erdogan, A. (2012). A comparative study of the antioxidant/prooxidant effects of carvacrol and thymol at various concentrations on membrane and DNA of parental and drug resistant H1299 cells. *Natural Product Communications*, 7(12), 1557–1560. https://doi.org/10.1177/1934578x1200701201
- Özkan, A., & Erdoğan, A. (2011). A comparative evaluation of antioxidant and anticancer activity of essential oil from origanum onites (lamiaceae) and its two major phenolic components. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, *35*(6), 735–742. https://doi.org/10.3906/biy-1011-170

- Pakdemirli, A., Karaca, C., Sever, T., Daskin, E., Leblebici, A., Yiğitbaşi, T., & Başbinar, Y. (2020). Carvacrol alters soluble factors in HCT-116 and HT-29 cell lines. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 50(1), 271–276. https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-1907-173
- Qoorchi Moheb Seraj, F., Heravi-Faz, N., Soltani, A., Ahmadi, S. S., shahbeiki, F., Talebpour, A., Afshari, A. R., Ferns, G. A., & Bahrami, A. (2022). Thymol has anticancer effects in U-87 human malignant glioblastoma cells. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 49(10), 9623–9632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-022-07867-3
- Rashed, A. A., Rathi, D. N. G., Nasir, N. A. H. A., & Rahman, A. Z. A. (2021).
 Antifungal Properties of Essential Oils and Their Compounds for Application in Skin Fungal Infections: Conventional and Nonconventional Approaches. *Molecules*, 26(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26041093
- Raut, J. S., & Karuppayil, S. M. (2014). A status review on the medicinal properties of essential oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 62, 250–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.05.055
- Reichling, J., Schnitzler, P., Suschke, U., & Saller, R. (2009). Essential oils of aromatic plants with antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, and cytotoxic properties - An overview. *Forschende Komplementarmedizin*, 16(2), 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1159/000207196
- Rojas-Armas, J. P., Arroyo-Acevedo, J. L., Palomino-Pacheco, M., Herrera-Calderón,
 O., Ortiz-Sánchez, J. M., Rojas-Armas, A., Calva, J., Castro-Luna, A., & Hilario-Vargas, J. (2020). The essential oil of Cymbopogon citratus stapt and carvacrol: An approach of the antitumor effect on 7,12-dimethylbenz-[α]-anthracene (DMBA)-induced breast cancer in female rats. *Molecules*, 25(14), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25143284
- Rota, M. C., Herrera, A., Martínez, R. M., Sotomayor, J. A., & Jordán, M. J. (2008).
 Antimicrobial activity and chemical composition of Thymus vulgaris, Thymus zygis and Thymus hyemalis essential oils. *Food Control*, 19(7), 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2007.07.007
- Russo, R., Corasaniti, M. T., Bagetta, G., & Morrone, L. A. (2015). Exploitation of cytotoxicity of some essential oils for translation in cancer therapy. In *Evidence*-

based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/397821

- Sampaio, L. A., Pina, L. T. S., Serafini, M. R., Tavares, D. dos S., & Guimarães, A. G. (2021). Antitumor Effects of Carvacrol and Thymol: A Systematic Review. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12(July). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.702487
- Schnitzler, P., Koch, C., & Reichling, J. (2007). Susceptibility of drug-resistant clinical herpes simplex virus type 1 strains to essential oils of ginger, thyme, hyssop, and sandalwood. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 51(5), 1859–1862. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00426-06
- Seal, S., Chatterjee, P., Bhattacharya, S., Pal, D., Dasgupta, S., Kundu, R., Mukherjee, S., Bhattacharya, S., Bhuyan, M., Bhattacharyya, P. R., Baishya, G., Barua, N. C., Baruah, P. K., Rao, P. G., & Bhattacharya, S. (2012). Vapor of Volatile Oils from Litsea cubeba Seed Induces Apoptosis and Causes Cell Cycle Arrest in Lung Cancer Cells. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047014
- Serakinci, N., Christensen, R., Graakjaer, J., Cairney, C. J., Keith, W. N., Alsner, J., Saretzki, G., & Kolvraa, S. (2007). Ectopically hTERT expressing adult human mesenchymal stem cells are less radiosensitive than their telomerase negative counterpart. *Experimental Cell Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.01.002
- Sertel, S., Eichhorn, T., Plinkert, P. K., & Efferth, T. (2011). Cytotoxicity of Thymus vulgaris essential oil towards human oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma. *Anticancer Research*.
- Sharifi-Rad, M., Berkay Yılmaz, Y., Antika, G., Salehi, B., Tumer, T. B., Kulandaisamy Venil, C., Das, G., Patra, J. K., Karazhan, N., Akram, M., Iqbal, M., Imran, M., Sen, S., Acharya, K., Dey, A., & Sharifi-Rad, J. (2021). Phytochemical constituents, biological activities, and health-promoting effects of the genus Origanum. *Phytotherapy Research*, *35*(1), 95–121. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6785
- Sharma, M., Grewal, K., Jandrotia, R., Rani, D., Pal, H., & Kumar, R. (2022).
 Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy Essential oils as anticancer agents : Potential role in malignancies , drug delivery mechanisms , and immune system enhancement.

Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, *146*, 112514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112514

- Sharmeen, J. B., Mahomoodally, F. M., Zengin, G., & Maggi, F. (2021). Essential oils as natural sources of fragrance compounds for cosmetics and cosmeceuticals. *Molecules*, 26(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26030666
- Shayganni, E., Bahmani, M., Asgary, S., & Rafieian-Kopaei, M. (2016). Inflammaging and cardiovascular disease: Management by medicinal plants. *Phytomedicine*, 23(11), 1119–1126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2015.11.004
- Spyridopoulou, K., Fitsiou, E., Bouloukosta, E., Tiptiri-Kourpeti, A., Vamvakias, M.,
 Oreopoulou, A., Papavassilopoulou, E., Pappa, A., & Chlichlia, K. (2019).
 Extraction, Chemical Composition, and Anticancer Potential of Origanum onites L.
 Essential Oil. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 24(14).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24142612
- Stadler, R. H., Markovic, J., & Turesky, R. J. (1995). In vitro anti- and pro-oxidative effects of natural polyphenols. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 47(1–3), 299– 305. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02790130
- Subramaniyan, J., Krishnan, G., Balan, R., Divya, M. G. J., Ramasamy, E.,
 Ramalingam, S., Veerabathiran, R., Thandavamoorthy, P., Mani, G. K., &
 Thiruvengadam, D. (2014). Carvacrol modulates instability of xenobiotic
 metabolizing enzymes and downregulates the expressions of PCNA, MMP-2, and
 MMP-9 during diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in rats. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 395(1–2), 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-014-2112-5
- Thomas, J., Carson, C. F., Peterson, G. M., Walton, S. F., Hammer, K. A., Naunton, M., Davey, R. C., Spelman, T., Dettwiller, P., Kyle, G., Cooper, G. M., & Baby, K. E. (2016). Therapeutic potential of tea tree oil for scabies. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 94(2), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.14-0515
- Trinetta, V., Morgan, M. T., Coupland, J. N., & Yucel, U. (2017). Essential Oils Against Pathogen and Spoilage Microorganisms of Fruit Juices: Use of Versatile Antimicrobial Delivery Systems. *Journal of Food Science*, 82(2), 471–476.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13614

- Vassiliou, E., Awoleye, O., Davis, A., & Mishra, S. (2023). Anti-Inflammatory and Antimicrobial Properties of Thyme Oil and Its Main Constituents. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24086936
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., & Rather, M. A. (2021). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 152(October 2020), 104620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104620
- Wei, A., & Shibamoto, T. (2010). Antioxidant/lipoxygenase inhibitory activities and chemical compositions of selected essential oils. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(12), 7218–7225. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf101077s
- WHO. (2020). WHO report on cancer: Setting Priorities, Investing Wisely and Providing Care for All. In WHO report on cancer: Setting Priorities, Investing Wisely and Providing Care for All. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-11496-4_24
- Xylia, P., Chrysargyris, A., Miltiadous, P., & Tzortzakis, N. (2022). Origanum dubium (Cypriot Oregano) as a Promising Sanitizing Agent against Salmonella enterica and Listeria monocytogenes on Tomato and Cucumber Fruits. *Biology*, *11*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/biology11121772
- Yavuz, D. Ö., Becer, E., Kendirci, R., Özdal Kurt, F., & Vatansever, H. S. (2021).
 Proapoptotic and Anticancer Potentials of Thymus capitatus Essential Oil on Colon Cancer Stem Cells. *Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences*, 6(4), 319–324.
 https://doi.org/10.5152/cjms.2021.2293
- Yavuz, D. O., Mavis, M., Ateş, G., Hanoğlu, A., Yiğit Hanoğlu, D., Can Başer, K. H., & Serakinci, N. (2017). Identification of potential therapeutic role of thymus capitatus essential oil using cellular imaging. *Procedia Computer Science*, 120, 961–966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.11.332
- Younes, K. M., Huwaimel, B., Abouzied, A. S., Alrashidi, K. O., Alawad, A. F., Almesmar, N. O., & Alrashidi, Z. M. (2022). Cytotoxic activity of Thymus capitatus collected from Hail region in Saudi Arabia with mechanistic study via induction of caspasedependent apoptosis and S-phase arrest. *Notulae Botanicae*

Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca, *50*(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.15835/nbha50412909

- Zeng, Q., Che, Y., Zhang, Y., Chen, M., Guo, Q., & Zhang, W. (2020). Thymol isolated from thymus vulgaris L. Inhibits colorectal cancer cell growth and metastasis by suppressing the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 14, 2535–2547. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S254218
- Zhou, L., Al-Zahra Kamal Kamel Attia, F., Meng, L., Chen, S., Liu, Z., Ma, C., Liu, L., & Kang, W. (2021). Chemical Components and Biological Effects of Genus
 Origanum. *Journal of Food Quality*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/3271727
- Zhou, N., Cui, Y., Zhu, R., Kuang, Y., Ma, W., Hou, J., Zhu, Y., Chen, S., Xu, X., Tan, K., Cao, P., Duan, X., & Fan, Y. (2022). Deferasirox shows inhibition activity against cervical cancer in vitro and in vivo. *Gynecologic Oncology*, *166*(1), 126– 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2022.05.006

CURRICULUM VITAE

- a. Name Surname: Merdiye Mavis
- b. Title: Research assistant
- c. Educational Background: Master's

Degree	Department/Program	University	Year
Bachelor's	Biochemistry	University of Bath	2011-2014
Master's	Cancer	University College London	2014-2015
PhD	Medical Biology and Genetics	Near East University	2016

4. Master's / PhD Thesis

4.1. Master's Thesis Title and Thesis Advisor(s):

Thesis title: Biochemical and Structural Definition of MOB1 Loss of Interaction Variants

Advisor: Dr Alexander Hergovich

4.2. PhD Thesis /Medical Specialty Thesis Title and Advisor(s):

Thesis title: Modelling Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cancer Therapeutic Approaches: Response of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells towards Thymus Capitatus, Origanum Dubium Essential Oils and Their Major Constituents

Advisors: Prof. Dr. Nedime Serakıncı & Prof. Dr. Pınar Tulay

5. Academic Titles:

Date of Assistant Professorship:

Date of Associate Proferssorship:

Date of Professorship:

6. Supervised Master's and PhD Theses:

6.1. Master's Theses

6.2. PhD Theses

7. Publications

7.1. Articles Published in International Peer-Reviewed Journals (SCI,SSCI, AHCI, ESCI, Scopus)

- Mavis M, Ali M, Hanoglu A, Ozalp Y, Yavuz DO, Baser KHC, Serakinci N (2023) Evaluation of Therapeutic role of Thymus capitatus (L.) Hoffm. & Link, Origanum dubium Boiss. Essential Oils and Their Major Constituents as Enhancers in Cancer Therapy. Records of Natural Products 17(4): 715-720
- 2. Oztenekecioglu B, Mavis M, Osum M, Kalkan R (2021) Genetic and Epigenetic Alterations in Autism Spectrum Disorder.Global Medical Genetics 15;8(4):144-148.
- Kulaberoglu Y, Lin K, Holder M, Gai ZC, Gomez M, Shifa BA, Mavis M, Hoa L, Sharif AAD, Lujan C, Smith ESJ, Bjedov I, Tapon N, Wu G, Hergovich A (2017) Stable MOB1 interaction with Hippo/MST is not essential for development and tissue growth control. Nature Communications 8
- Yavuz DO, Mavis M, Ates G, Hanoglu A, Hanoglu DY, Baser KHC, Serakinci N (2017) Identification of potential therapeutic role of thymus capitatus essential oil using cellular imaging. Procedia Computer Science 120: 961-966
- Hoa L, Kulaberoglu Y, Gundogdu R, Cook D, Mavis M, Gomez M, Gomez V, Hergovich A (2016)The characterisation of LATS2 kinase regulation in Hippo-YAP signalling. Cellular Signalling 28 (5):488-497

7.2. Articles Published in Other International Peer-Reviewed Journals

7.3. Papers Presented at International Scientific Conferences and Published in Conference Proceedings

 Mavis M, Ates G, Hanoglu A, Hanoglu DY, Yavuz DO, Serakinci, N (2016) Investigating the activity of Thymus capitatus essential oil on cancer by using human telomerase reverse transcriptase immortalized mesenchymal stem cells. FEBS Journal 283: 59

7.4. National/international Books or Book Chapters

 Serakinci N, Cagsin H, Mavis M (2018) Use of U-STELA for Accurate Measurement of Extremely Short Telomeres. Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press

7.5. Articles Published in National Peer-Reviewed Journals

8. Art and Design Activities

- 9. Projects
- **10. Administrative Responsibilities**

11. Memberships in Scientific and Professional Organizations

12. Awards

1. EU Scholarship Programme for the Turkish Cypriot Community (2014 -2015) Scholarship for MSc Studies of Turkish Cypriots in Europe

13. Undergraduate and Graduate Courses Taught in the Last Two Years

Academic	Semester	Course Name	Weekly Hours		Number of
Year			Theoretical	Practical	Students
2021 - 2022	Fall	TMG402 Kanser Genetiği	3	0	8
	Fall	MBG402 Cancer Genetics	3	0	16
	Fall	TMG205 Biyoteknoloji Teknikleri	2	2	9
	Fall	MBG205 Biotechnology Techniques	2	2	21
	Spring	TMG105 Genetiğin Temel Prensipleri	2	2	13
	Spring	MBG105 Basic Principles of Genetics	2	2	23
	Spring	TMG305 Laboratuvar Güvenliği ve Teknikleri	2	2	8
	Spring	MBG305 Laboratory Safety and Techniques	2	2	17
	Spring	TMG207 İnsan Genetiği ve Genomik	2	2	9
2022 - 2023	Fall	TMG402 Kanser Genetiği	3	0	8
	Fall	MBG402 Cancer Genetics	3	0	12
--	------	------------------------------------	---	---	----
	Fall	TMG205 Biyoteknoloji Teknikleri	2	2	10
	Fall	MBG205 Biotechnology Techniques	2	2	22

TTL
INDCIC
1115313

ORIGINALITY REPORT

SIMILA	5% ARITY INDEX	13% INTERNET SOURCES	12% PUBLICATIONS	% STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMAR	Y SOURCES			
1	acgpubs. Internet Source	org		2%
2	www.md	pi.com		1 %
3	pdfs.sem	anticscholar.or	g	1 %
4	docs.neu	i.edu.tr		1 %
5	WWW.res	earchgate.net		<1 %
6	ebin.pub	2		<1 %
7	WWW.SCie	ence.gov		<1 %
8	"Nutrace Springer 2021 Publication	uticals and Car Science and Bu	ncer Signaling" usiness Media	, < 1 %

www.scialert.net